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Section 1. Our year at a glance 
 

Charitable Spend 2019/20 and 2018/19  
 

  
            
 Key Performance Indicators for 19/20 
 
  Charitable expenditure per pound spent    71p 
  Operating cost ratio                 32% total charity running costs as a proportion of total income    
  Cost to raise a pound of total income                                  30p  
  
  Voluntary income growth excluding legacies         26% 
 
   Clinicians trained via the Grateful Patients Programme     100 to recognise when a patient would like to give 
   Hospitals’ staff awareness of the Charity                  95% from the annual staff survey 
   
   ACT staff          38      average monthly headcount 
    ACT Volunteers        27      number in place by the end of the year 
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Five-year review: income and charitable spend 

 

 

 

Five-year review: voluntary income 

 

 
 
 
* Voluntary income includes legacies, donations, grants, events, community fundraising and lottery 
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Section 2. Chairman’s and Chief Executive’s forewor d  
 

Dear Supporter 

Seven days that changed the reflections of the past  year at ACT 

The financial year 2019/20 was a strong year for the ACT team with lots to be proud of.  However, 
the events that unfolded, in the closing weeks of our financial year, surrounding the Covid-19 
pandemic completely overshadowed the work of the past year and our plans for the year ahead.   

Unprecedented times led to some unprecedented levels of activity within the charity.   

We worked hard and had a lot of success 

In the first part of the year, there was a significant amount of work in developing our fundraising 
activity which in turn led to some great work within our communities.  This has been invaluable to 
our work on a Covid-19 Emergency appeal that featured heavily in the last few weeks of our 
financial year.   

During the year we continued to invest in building our ambassadors and volunteers networks.  With 
the appointment of a Volunteer Coordinator we were able to give structure and support to this 
important group, strengthening even further our position within our communities and the work of 
the team at ACT.   

Alongside this, we began to engage with the staff in the hospital (Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie) on 
a more direct level, which is important to ensuring visibility of the Charity across the hospital teams.  
Our efforts on building awareness across the hospital through the installation of our fundraising 
hubs, contactless donation points and general charity material led to some great results.  We saw 
through the NHS Staff Survey that the awareness of hospital staff of the Charity stood at 95% 
which is a great reflection on our efforts to increase visibility across the hospital site.  We must 
continue to communicate and ensure that we bring staff on the journey to retain their important 
support in executing our Grateful Patients’ strategy.   

Some of the key staff activities of note include: 

- Hosting a staff thank-you lunch with the generous support of the Rapid Relief Charity – 
feeding lunch to over 600 staff at the hospital on the new ‘green and gardens’ space on the 
biomedical campus bringing staff from all of the various organisations together; 

- Over 100 hospital staff participated in the iconic Chariots of Fire fundraising race around 
Cambridge, generously supported by Hewitsons LLP and over 2,000 runners. This event 
was strengthened by 80 staff and ambassadors who kindly volunteered at the event.  We 
also took this opportunity to launch our children’s hospital activity, and to raise much 
needed funds for a new Paediatric Ambulance service for the East of England. 

- We had three hospital teams, including a team from the Management Executive of the 
Hospital, participate in the Dragonboat race alongside our loyal corporate supporters, an 
event that raised significant funds and a great way to further promote the work of the 
Charity. 
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Throughout the year, we continued to execute our Grateful Patient strategy and successfully 
recruited a full Hospital Engagement team to take this forward.  There are now over 52 (out of 92) 
departments directly supported by our Hospital Engagement Team, these have been strategically 
aligned to the priorities of the hospital.  They have been able to deliver Past Patient Mailings – 
something that we have been waiting to do for many years and run successful patient engagement 
events that have helped us do more work in much needed areas and to recruit new supporters to 
the Charity. 

Financially, you will see from section 7 (Financial Review) that whilst total income fell year on year 
by 18%, the Charity successfully grew voluntary income (excluding legacies) by 26%. Legacy 
income fell by 51% due to the 2018/19 year benefitting from two over £1m legacies. 

Overall spend on charitable activities fell by 12%, but within that performance, spend on patients 
increased by 16%.  Some examples of projects we have utilised charitable funds to support include 
funding for refurbishment of ward C5 which has enabled a transformed space for Dialysis patients.  
These patients make frequent visits to the hospital for their treatment and now have a space which 
is welcoming and better able to support them.  This was made possible through a single very 
generous legacy gift made to ACT for the benefit of dialysis in the hospital.  It was also a great 
achievement to improve the ED space for Paediatric patients, creating an environment that was 
much more suitable to visiting patients creating a place of calm and normality at what is often a 
very stressful time.  The oncology outpatients’ department also received a transformation in the 
year and now provides a space that is more comfortable and supportive to the visitor’s needs.  We 
have also been working with the teams at the hospital to create a new 3D Surgical Planning 
Service with the support of one of our major Trust donors.  This service will enable faster and 
better patient outcomes for Maxillofacial patients.  A full report on our impact and expenditure can 
be found in section 4.   

We have been privileged to work closely with the hospital teams in determining the appropriate 
prioritisation of charitable funds.  There are many things to be proud of; alongside the research 
activity we supported throughout the year, we have also supported the vision of the hospital to 
increase innovation in healthcare and supported over £70,000 in innovation grants as well as 
bringing together industry partners for a series of innovation events to gain momentum in building 
the links between industry and healthcare.  Our 3rd Innovation event for the Hospital  was a great 
session with two separate panels from across the health system, debating the topic of frailty and 
how we can innovate to solve some of the challenges.  Bringing together the Hospital teams and 
the various interconnections across the health system is a significant step forward in determining 
future healthcare models.  There is much work to do on supporting innovation moving forwards, 
and we look forward to getting back to that once the Covid-19 focus shifts back to more business 
as usual activity.  

With two big capital campaigns planned in order to support the priorities of the hospital in the 
coming years, we took a strategic decision to invest in the growth of the organisation in preparation 
for these, knowing that this would initially impact our ratios (running costs as a proportion of total 
income) but place us in a strong position to increase our revenues as we move forward.  In 
2019/20 we achieved a ratio of 32% while building a capital campaigns team. 

When it became clear that Covid-19 would do serious damage to the economy, triggering a 
potentially large negative impact on the voluntary income of all charities, the Trustees and Senior 
Management Team reviewed the budget for 2020/21.  We are committed to retaining the skills and 
resources of the Charity in order to protect our ability to fundraise and to support the two capital 
campaigns, so our new budget will allow costs to increase to 45% of income in 2020/21, 
maintaining our preparedness for our anticipated two large and vital capital campaigns.  Despite 
many charities facing losses and forced restructuring, we are very positive about hitting our new 
income targets and continuing to support and partner the hospital during the next important phase 
of growth and development. 
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There are many plans underway for the future  

Our activity on the Children’s Hospital ramped up significantly; we recruited a small but very 
focussed capital campaigns team including our new Head of Capital Campaigns, a Trusts and 
Foundations lead and a major donor fundraiser.  We also completed a piece of work developing 
our action plan for the campaign with the help of Gifted Philanthropy consultants and have worked 
closely with Cambridge University Development Office on building the ‘global campaign’.  All this 
important work sets us in good shape for delivering the significant numbers required to help us 
build the much-needed children’s hospital for the East of England. 

As part of the Government’s funding announcement in October, the Hospital was awarded £1 
billion for Addenbrooke’s 3.  The executive team at the hospital is looking to create a state-of-the-
art environment, under-pinned by Cambridge’s world-leading research, integrating health and care 
services across the region. We are excited to work with the hospital as these plans develop, and 
there will undoubtedly be a key role for the charity to play in this project going forward.  The 
Trustees are reviewing their structure in order to support this strategic shift and ensure that the 
charity is in the best shape possible to support this future vision. 

We have also been working with the teams in the hospital and the wider STP (Strategic 
Transformation Partnership) in rolling out the five-year plan and this has been pivotal in us 
determining strategic areas for fundraising and expenditure. 

But we had to respond to the Covid-19 Crisis and ‘H elp Our Hospital’ 

In mid-March 2020 as the hospital began to witness the unfolding of the pandemic, the ACT 
management team was quick to respond.  All staff were moved to remote working prior to the 
lockdown, this was particularly important in supporting reducing footfall in the hospital whilst the 
hospital focussed on containing the spread of the virus.  The fundraising team led by our 
Fundraising Director immediately set up an emergency appeal that was live by mid-March. This 
focus of ‘Help our Hospital’ enabled us to begin to raise over £1.2m1 in emergency support for the 
staff and teams at the hospital.  We are also very grateful to the generous support from individual 
donors, corporates and trusts that have enabled us to quickly respond to the needs of the hospital.    

Whilst we are in no doubt the crisis will have a long-term impact on many charities, we recognise 
that through the wider efforts of the NHS Charities community there has been a lot of activity that 
gives identity to our causes.  We will work with this community to ensure that we remain able to 
connect givers and causes to help make our hospital even better and weather what is set to be a 
very challenging time for the UK in rebuilding its economy. 

We have included more detail on the Charity’s response to Covid-19 in section 6a 

And then refocus on the changed future 

Looking forward, we anticipate that we will be living with Covid-19 for a while to come and we are 
shaping our plans to respond to this.  Throughout 2019, the senior management team streamlined 
the strategic focus for fundraising to ensure we had a balanced portfolio of projects to raise funds 
for – these formed what is known as our Propeller.  This focuses on 3 key areas –  

1. Making the Hospital Even Better – developing general funds to support the flow of 
charitable activity across the campus 

2. Cambridge Children’s – developing our campaign to raise funds for the new children’s 
hospital 

3. Transformational projects – projects of £500k or above that enable us to build targeted 
campaigns. 

                                                             

1 at time of writing 
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We had anticipated several projects that we would commence fundraising for in this new financial 
year, these will now be delayed as a result of the hospital not being in a position to progress these.  
However, we have a pipeline of projects and will work with the hospital to ensure that we can 
quickly progress these.  We also have plans to broaden our ask to make our hospital even better, 
and this general ask will enable us to support the hospital in areas where no historic charitable 
funds are available.  We will throughout the year continue our project to reduce the number of 
charitable fund accounts to ensure we have bigger pools to deliver larger projects that deliver 
bigger impact. 

We are not yet sure what this new world means, but we do know that the hospital needs the charity 
more than ever to help them continue to go beyond what is expected to deliver exceptional patient 
care and we know that our supporters are even more grateful for the work that the hospital and 
teams deliver.  Bringing these together is our duty and our commitment for the year ahead.   

We have been and will continue to be able to deliver our charitable objectives due to the 
exceptional support of our donors, volunteers and staff. Thank you to all of you. 

 
Dr Rosalind Smith      Shelly Thake 
Chairman       Chief Executive 
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Section 3. About Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (AC T) 
 
ACT is dedicated to changing patients’ lives at Add enbrooke’s and the Rosie hospitals. 
Whether it’s receiving care for an emergency, acute  condition, pregnancy or long-term 
illness, we believe that every patient deserves the  highest quality of treatment available.  
 
We will continue to support the hospitals by raising funds for cutting edge technology, additional 
specialist services, vital research and extra comforts for patients that make all the difference over 
and above what would be possible through NHS funding alone.  
 
As a result of the NHS Charities Review, the Trustees and the Board of Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) resolved that ACT should be re-constituted as a fully 
independent charity, because they considered that this arrangement would best safeguard 
charitable funds, sustain donor confidence, provide continuity, and open up new possibilities for 
partnership.  From 1 April 2017, all assets and liabilities of the old charity moved across to the new 
charity and a new charity number was granted (1170103).  
 
Our vision   
 
ACT’s vision is to be a leading charity that achieves exceptional benefits for NHS patients. 
 
Our mission   

  
Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) is an independent registered charity (number 1170103) that 
raises funds to support Addenbrooke's and the Rosie, the Cambridge University Hospitals.   We 
connect givers and causes, funding projects and facilities that are beyond the boundaries of the 
NHS to achieve the highest possible standards and outcomes in patient experience, clinical care, 
research and education.  

  
Our hospitals  
 
Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie are managed and governed as part of Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH), one of the largest and best-known hospital trusts in the 
country.  CUH is the acute, general and maternity healthcare provider for its local community, 
delivering services through its hospitals, Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie.  The Foundation Trust is 
also a regional centre for specialist treatment; a major provider of education for clinical staff; and 
the principal clinical research partner of the University of Cambridge.  

  
Our charitable objectives   

 
The objects of Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) for the year under review were: 
  

• To further any charitable purpose or purposes relating to the general or any specific 
purposes of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) and the 
National Health Service, and 

 

• To advance and promote all or any aspects of the health and welfare of the public, and  
 

• To advance and promote knowledge and skills in healthcare, including engaging in and 
supporting health-related research (and the dissemination of its useful results), 
education and training.  
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In practice, this means that ACT:  
 
• Funds new and additional services where the NHS has no obligation and/or insufficient 

resources to do so; and 

 

• Enhances services above the level that can be provided by government funds; and  
 

• Supports innovative services and research on a time-limited basis, pump-priming new 
initiatives and bridging gaps in funding from other sources.  
  

.  
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Section 4. Our key achievements in 2019/20 
 
We wouldn’t be able to achieve as many great things  throughout the hospital without the 
kindness and generosity of our supporters for which  we are incredibly grateful. 
 
We have themed our achievements for the year in six  key impact areas: 
 
Key area 1: Improving diagnosis 
 
MRI entertainment system £27,300 (restricted gift £ 15,070, MRI fund £12,230) 

When young children need an MRI scan it can be quite traumatic and children sometimes need to 
have a general anaesthetic because they are too anxious to be able to stay still and cope with the 
scan.  General anaesthetics are usually very low risk, but if they can be avoided it’s better for 
everybody.   

Previously, ACT has purchased a Lego MRI model so that Play Therapists can show and explain 
to a child how the scanner works and what to expect when they get there.  We later added a full-
size inflatable MRI scanner to our toolbox, meaning children can see and experience the size and 
scale of the scanner and realise it’s nothing to fear.  Thanks to a generous donor, we’ve now 
purchased an integrated entertainment system so that children can watch their favourite shows 
whilst having their scan (and grown-ups too)!   

Improving learning through doing – Imaging phantom £29,110 (two legacies), Sim Man 
£26,128 (major donor), Sim Baby £14,035 (NICU desig nated fund). 

Using highly-detailed full-size simulation dolls, trainees can take a hands-on approach to learning.  
The life-size adult and baby simulation dolls allow for planning for less-common medical events for 
our well-established staff too.  The imaging phantom is also a full-size doll and these mimic the 
organs not only in size but also in density and how they show up on CT and X-ray scanners.  It can 
be used by staff to help staff identify cancerous lesions and practice techniques.   

Earlier diagnosis of dementia: ACT grant £6,220 
 
An ACT grant will enable a new app for early testing of dementia-type symptoms.  The app takes 
Addenbrooke’s-based Dr Jeremy Brown’s proven ‘Test Your Memory’ test and puts it in an 
electronic format for the first time.  This can be used where a patient shows symptoms of 
dementia, can be used in local GP surgeries and will allow for appropriate treatment planning.   
 
Improving the diagnosis of leg ulcers: ACT grant £2 ,580 
 
Quicker diagnosis of leg ulcers in hospital means that outcomes can be improved.  Traditionally a 
doppler ultrasound is used to diagnose leg ulcers.  An ACT grant has enabled an ‘ankle brachial 
pressure index measuring device’ to be purchased and trialled to test how measurement of the 
blood pressure in the ankle can identify leg ulcers sooner, meaning treatment can be brought 
forwards with a more successful outcome for the patient.   
 
Helping children with immune system disease: ACT gr ant of £10,000 
 
A rare disease causes the immune system to attack the bones by mistake which causes bone pain 
and swelling.  Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis can be very painful for children and 
teenagers, and it’s important to be diagnosed as quickly as possible to allow for earlier treatment 
and fewer complications.  A project funded with an ACT grant seeks to improve recognition of this 
disease throughout the UK, ensure prompt diagnosis and that patients therefore get the treatment 
they need.   
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Key area 2: Treatment and recovery 
 
The treatments of the future: 
 
ACT has a proud history of funding research on the Cambridge Biomedical Campus.  We know 
that every pound we invest helps move us closer to finding new treatments and cures that won’t 
only help Addenbrooke’s patients but have a potentially global benefit.   
 
This year we have supported a number of research projects (detailed in the research section 
below) that could move us towards identifying new treatments, including: 
 

• £22,888 for research into currently incurable brain disease 
• £16,000 (from a legacy) to investigate the role of a particular gene in Xeroderma 

Pigmentosum (a genetic disease which makes patients very sensitive to UV light) 
• £5,000 to investigate how diet interacts with organisms in the intestine, in pursuit of new 

treatment interventions for irritable bowel syndrome 
• £25,000 for oesophageal cancer research 

 

Finding effective treatments for patients with adva nced breast cancer: ACT grant £24,600 

• There is a variety of treatment options for patients with advanced breast cancer.  It is not 
currently known which treatment will be best for an individual patient.  All of the treatments 
have side effects and being able to discontinue ineffective treatments very quickly will avoid 
the patient enduring these side effects unnecessarily.   

• With a grant from ACT, scientists will explore whether a simple blood test could be used to 
predict treatment response at an early point.  If this is successful, it could lead to ineffective 
treatments being stopped early and a more effective treatment started more quickly, 
minimising side effects from unhelpful treatments.     

Helping children with life-long blood conditions: A CT grant £12,000  
 

Addenbrooke’s Haemophilia and Thrombophilia Centre sees patients who have a blood 
condition that means blood doesn’t clot or clots too readily.  Patients are under the care of the 
centre for life.  This means that children with the conditions attend frequently for follow-up 
appointments. 

We thought it would ease anxiety and distress for children if they thought of their appointments 
as an opportunity to have fun!  With an ACT grant we’ve kitted out the waiting room with toys 
and activities and provided wall-mounted electronic games systems into the consultation 
rooms, helping keep the little ones occupied whilst the grown-ups are talking!   

Supporting patients with dementia: ACT grant £5,472  

How can we support patients with dementia when we don’t really understand how they feel?  
Thanks to immersive dementia training, staff working with dementia patients can experience 
for themselves what it feels like.  Special clothing, glasses and headsets create an 
environment similar to what a person with dementia feels, accompanied with training which 
helps staff understand and better care for affected patients.    
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Key area 3: Research and innovation 
 
Restoration of astrocytic networks as a therapeutic  approach to inflammatory brain 
disease: ACT research grant £22,888   
 
The ability of brain cells called astrocytes to form communicating networks becomes altered in 
brain disorders that present with underlying inflammation. These conditions include Parkinson’s 
disease, multiple sclerosis and psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia. Current research, 
including ours, shows that inflammation causes astrocytes to interact less with their partner cells, 
while at the same time interacting more with the extracellular space, and that blocking the latter is 
beneficial for astrocytes and surrounding cells such as neurones. However, it is not clear whether 
the former phenomenon is of pathological significance. Therefore, the research will set out to test a 
therapeutic approach that will help astrocytes to restore their intercellular communication, and will 
assess whether this treatment will protect brain cells from starting to fire abnormally under 
inflammatory conditions in petri dishes that recapitulate aspects of inflammation in brain disorders. 
If successful, this research will help to devise novel transformative treatments for currently 
incurable brain diseases. 

 
IBS Microbiome study:  ACT research grant £5,000  
 
Irritable bowel syndrome is very common, affecting 10-15% of people worldwide, but is extremely 
poorly understood. Symptoms can be severe and hugely impact quality of life, as much so as 
depression and asthma. The constellation of different treatments reflects the poor understanding of 
IBS pathogenesis. Using advanced technology this study aims to investigate how our diet interacts 
with the organisms that reside in the intestine, modifying the type of bacteria that can live there and 
their metabolic behaviour, and how this may lead to the development of IBS. It is hoped that 
improved understanding will lead to the development of new treatment interventions, to manipulate 
the bacteria themselves or the chemicals they produce. 

 
In-vitro characterisation of a novel gluten-degradi ng enzymatic therapy for coeliac disease: 
ACT research grant  £5,000 
 
Coeliac disease (CD) is a lifelong, autoimmune disease of the small intestine characterised by 
sensitivity to gluten, affecting at least 1% of the population of the western world. Gluten free diet is 
the only effective treatment, but sometimes foodstuffs are contaminated with small amounts of 
gluten. An enzyme has been identified that could be taken by mouth to break down gluten if 
contaminated food is eaten by a CD patient, which could alleviate symptoms and significantly 
improve the quality of life. 

 
Development of a new CAR-T cell for treatment of my eloma: ACT grant £234,126  

CAR-T cell therapy is a promising new way to get immune cells called T cells (a type of white blood 
cell) to fight cancer by changing them in the lab so they can find and destroy cancer cells. CAR T-
cell therapies are sometimes talked about as a type of gene or cell therapy, or an adoptive cell 
transfer therapy.  This project involves extracting a patient’s immune cells and engineering them to 
better recognise and attack the patient’s cancer. Recognition is through a target protein on the 
cancer cell surface that is unique to the cancer and not expressed elsewhere in the body. A novel 
target protein has been discovered in the bone marrow cancer, myeloma, which remains incurable. 
It is believed that CAR-T cells targeted against this protein will be more effective than existing 
CAR-T therapy in myeloma. This project will first test the potential safety of the novel target. It will 
then generate the machinery to recognise the target and instruct the CAR-T cells to kill the cancer. 
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Finally, it will generate CAR-T cells and test these against myeloma cells in the Laboratory. If the 
project is successful, it would lead to initial clinical trials in patients with the disease. 

 
Oesophageal adenocarcinoma in the era of immunother apy - finding strategies to increase 
patient benefits to immune-checkpoint inhibitors: A CT research grant: £25,000  
 
The oesophagus is a ‘food pipe’ connecting the mouth and the stomach. ‘Oesophageal 
adenocarcinoma’ (OAC) occurs in the lower third of the oesophagus. Patients with OAC are 
treated with chemotherapy (to shrink it) followed by surgery (to remove it). However, in more than 
50% of patients the disease will recur, and survival is less than a year. The last decade has 
witnessed the development of immunotherapy. Immune cells (i.e. lymphocytes) are normally used 
by our body to fight infection and cancer. Malignant cells can become invisible   
to the attack from immune cells and develop into a tumour. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (CPI) are 
drugs that will make cancer visible to the attack of the immune system. Unfortunately, a small 
proportion of patients benefit from CPI, and strategies to optimise their use are under investigation. 
The objective of this project is to study whether the chemotherapies normally used for the 
treatment of OAC can be used to increase the anti-cancer effects of CPI. The research will test this 
in 3D models in the laboratory with the aim to use this information to inform the design of future 
clinical trials. 

Using real time genomic profiling to impact on clin ical treatment decisions for patients with 
metastatic breast cancer: ACT grant: £24,651  
 
Currently there are a wide variety of treatment options which can be used for patients with 
advanced (non-curable) breast cancer. All of these have side effects and it is not currently known 
which treatment(s) will be best for each patient. The research will collect data on whether a simple 
blood test can be used to predict treatment response at an early point (typically within four weeks 
of starting). It is hoped to be able to stop ineffective treatments earlier and to hopefully provide a 
more effective treatment quickly whilst keeping side effects from unhelpful treatments to a 
minimum.  
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Key area 4: Education and learning 
 
Improving our labs - £42,900 Clinical Biochemistry and Immunology fund 

Very few people get to see the laboratories of Addenbrooke’s and it’s easy to forget they are there!  
Addenbrooke’s labs are responsible for a broad range of critical work from analysing tissue and 
fluid samples for diagnosis in the pathology labs to creating human life in the IVF lab.  We have 
invested in a laboratory improvement programme, training and supporting ten pathology lab 
colleagues to deliver improvement projects in their labs.  As well as the direct benefit of the 
projects they will deliver, it also helps to nurture ‘home-grown’ talent and will help with staff 
retention.   

Research fellowships – grants of £250,000 

We were delighted to be able to support four new research fellowships, providing scientists at an 
early stage in their research careers with a stepping-stone to develop their careers and further their 
research interests.  ACT is very proud to have a long history of supporting junior scientists and, 
because of this support, many individuals have gone on to have successful careers in research. 

We were pleased to support fellowships with a total of just under £250,000, with an additional 
candidate selected through the process being selected by the Evelyn Trust for additional funding of 
£73,000.  We are grateful to the Biomedical Research Council for their contribution of £96,000 
towards the medical fellowships.    

Medical fellowship: Alexandra Rowland 

The placenta is responsible for providing the foetus with oxygen and nutrients during pregnancy.  
Alexandra’s research will seek to understand specific changes at a cellular level and seek to 
understand their relationship with pregnancy disorders like growth restriction and pre-eclampsia.   

Medical fellowship: May Yung Tiet 

Patients with the rare genetic condition ataxia-telangiectasia are at heightened risk of developing 
cancers and infections.  They often lose the ability to walk in childhood and have a life expectancy 
of less than 30 years.  May Yung’s research will examine DNA-related factors that may contribute 
to symptoms, which promises to aid overall understanding of this condition.   

Non-medical fellowship: Peter Hartley 

Older patients who are less active in hospital are likely to lose more muscle strength than those 
who maintain their usual level of activity.  The consequences to a patient’s independence can be 
catastrophic, and in the worst cases mean that a patient cannot go back to independent living after 
discharge from hospital.  Peter’s research will measure the impact of specific physiotherapy 
interventions in pursuit of identifying more effective physiotherapy interventions.    
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Key area 5: Environments for healing 

Reducing anxiety for our younger patients, paediatr ic emergency department expansion: 
ACT grant £20,000; virtual reality headsets: ACT gr ant £1,980  
 
When the hospital told us that they were going to expand the children’s emergency department 
and create a larger open-plan waiting area we knew immediately that this was something that we 
could make a huge difference to.  By using art, modern furniture and carefully thought through 
activities we’ve turned a space into an experience, helping keep children and their grown-ups 
occupied when there’s a wait.   
  
For children having surgery they can now use the virtual reality ‘Little Journey’ app to see what 
they will experience and who they will meet before coming for their surgery!  The headset, made of 
very durable cardboard, is kept by the child meaning they can spend as much time as they like at 
home exploring the virtual world.  ACT purchasing the headsets has kept this new initiative 
completely free to use, helping to calm and reassure our younger patients before they come into 
hospital.   
 

Improving the experience for patients on dialysis o r with organ failure  

Last year we reported how we introduced the latest liver perfusion machine into Addenbrooke’s, 
meaning donor livers could be better tested and enabling more life-saving transplants to go ahead.  
Our support meant Addenbrooke’s could be the first hospital in the country to adopt this new 
technology.   

This year we’ve seen another UK first, becoming the first to use a new method of delivering 
medical gases to the bedside.  This new method effectively disguises the supplies within 
decorative panels, meaning that ward spaces can be created that feel less clinical and more 
comfortable.   

This has been part of a full refurbishment of Ward C5 which now has a fresh new look including 
decorative wall vinyls, comfortable colour-coordinated furniture, wood effect flooring and an overall 
upgrade. For patients in Addenbrooke’s dialysis ward, ACT’s investment means we could create a 
relaxing and calming environment in a way never possible before.    

Arts and archives programme  

CUH Arts is dedicated to improving the hospital experience, promoting wellbeing and inspiring 
hope through creativity.  

The Charity continues to support the Arts and Archives programme at the Hospital, providing grant 
funding for the position of Head of Arts and the small team that work to support activities across 
the hospital.  In the year, a new Head of Arts was appointed who has made a major contribution to 
evolving a new approach to arts activities.  A new Archivist was also recruited who will continue the 
focus on preserving the history of Addenbrooke’s as well as recording the present, which is an 
increasing challenge in today’s digital world.     

CUH Arts 

CUH Arts is dedicated to improving the hospital experience, promoting wellbeing and inspiring 
hope through creativity. During 2019/20, the arts programme made a vital contribution to the 
healing environment and care of our hospital community by providing a diverse and ambitious 
programme of arts activities, events and interventions. Highlights include: 

• Bringing the outside in, with live performances in wards, waiting areas and clinics including 
recital pop-ups with harpist Jo Wallice-Hadrill, interactive puppetry for paediatrics from Little 
Angel Theatre, and CUH’s Christmas favourites The King’s Men.  
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• Supporting the physical, social and emotional wellbeing of patients with Dance for Health – 
our flagship participatory arts programme, plus a new art and dementia partnership with the 
Fitzwilliam Museum on our elderly wards 

• Introduction of public tours of our permanent art collection, gallery and exhibition spaces, 
plus a special commission to hospital designers Boex for bespoke artwork in the new 
paediatric Emergency Department waiting area 

CUH Archives 

CUH Archives is dedicated to preserving the history of the hospital through physical artefacts, 
stories and accounts. During 2019/20 we saw the previous archivist Ms Hilary Ritchie retire 
following 15 years of service to the Archives.  The new archivist, Dr Robin Payne, has been 
focusing on delivering a number of important projects, including: 

• Improving our facilities to help future generations of CUH staff and researchers with an 
interest in the hospital’s history.  This includes alignment with the Cambridge University 
Library’s cataloguing system, storage expansion and improved arrangement. 

• The creation of the new CUH Sound Archive which has commenced by recording 
testimonies of CUH nurses and midwives past and present.  The importance of listening to 
and documenting the voices of our staff members has never been more important and will 
provide an important resource for future generations.   

 
Key area 6: Cambridge Global Health Partnerships (C GHP) 
 

Launches CGHP Strategy 2020+ - Breadth, Impact, and  Rigour 

Over the past 12 months, CGHP continued to expand its global reach and impact. Building on over 
a decade of global health activity and experience, the team launched the CGHP 2020+ Strategy. 
The strategy will guide the organisation in achieving breadth, impact and rigour across its 
activities.   

Health Partnerships have continued to strengthen. Our longstanding link with Uganda developed 
an antimicrobial stewardship arm which has included bidirectional visits and training. Three long-
term volunteers spent 3-6 months in Myanmar as part of the Cambridge Yangon Trauma 
Intervention Partnership, and the UK team hosted senior delegates from Yangon to develop 
national improvement plans for trauma services. As part of our Botswana Eye Health links two 
senior Botswana ophthalmic nurses visited Cambridge to build understanding and contacts to 
strengthen the development of the Botswana national ophthalmic nursing curriculum. CGHP 
continues to explore new partnerships, including a cancer focussed link with the Uganda Cancer 
Institute. In the fight against Covid-19 CGHP is actively supporting partnerships in their response, 
and will continue to do so into the recovery phase.  

Further to our partnership work, we support wider global health engagement through a tiered 
support system including grants, events and networking. CGHP has supported eight medical 
electives to Myanmar, awarded a series of grants for medical staff engaging in global health 
activity across the globe, hosted a successful annual event and launched the Cambridge Global 
Health Café to bring together the global health community in Cambridge. CGHP aims to be the 
global health hub within Cambridge, providing specialist experience in knowledge exchange, 
mutual learning, and multidisciplinary health partnerships.  
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Section 5. Our charitable activities 
 
As the independent charity working in partnership w ith Cambridge University 
Hospitals, ACT receives voluntary gifts made to the  hospitals for charitable 
purposes.   
 
This enables tax-efficient giving, for example Gift Aid.  ACT fundraises and undertakes charitable 
trading so as to further increase the charitable funds available for the benefit of patients.  The 
Charity serves as custodian of the charitable funds received.  Funds are invested so as to further 
increase the value of funds held, thereby supporting a higher level of charitable expenditure.  The 
Charity seeks to direct its charitable expenditure in a way that maximises public benefit.  This is 
achieved through grant-making and through partnership with clinicians and managers in the 
hospital, known as ‘fund advisors’.  Finally, ACT reports on the public benefit of its charitable 
expenditure, so as to demonstrate accountability to its supporters and encourage ongoing support.  
 
Charitable trading   

  
Within CUH, there are various not-for-profit programmes of discretionary activity which generate 
income from external sources.  Some of this income, together with associated expenditures, is 
administered by the Charity.   Education, training and development are the most material sources 
of income under this heading.  In 2017/18, this income line included the discretionary activities of 
the Cambridge Postgraduate Medical Education Centre (PGME) and the Evelyn Surgical Training 
Centre (ESTC), the set-up costs of which were jointly funded by ACT and the Evelyn Trust.  
 
In 2017/18, it was decided no longer appropriate for the Charity to continue to administer and 
account for the PGME and accordingly the administration was transferred back to CUH with effect 
from 1 January 2018. This transfer was finally fully completed in 2018/19. The Charity still retains 
the funds which were built up over a number of years and intends to grant these across to CUH in 
2020/21 to facilitate its future investment in education activity. 
 
Charitable expenditure   

  
ACT’s charitable expenditure policy ensures that charitable funds are used to enhance, extend and 
maintain (on a short-term basis) NHS services.  It also ensures that charitable funds are not used 
to support requirements that should be met by government funding.   
 
In 2019/20, the policy was reviewed to ensure that it was still fit for purpose given the funding 
challenges faced by the NHS. Minor amendments were made including how the Charity supports 
other charities that deliver services within the hospitals. 
 
Charitable expenditure occurs through two main routes: grant-making and on the advice of fund 
advisors from designated and restricted funds.  
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Grant-making   
  
The Charitable Expenditure Committee takes advice from a number of hospital advisory 
committees, each of which is made an annual allocation from unrestricted funds.  These 
committees accept proposals on an open basis, both from CUH staff and from other charities 
providing services within CUH.  Proposals are assessed on a competitive basis.  Assessment 
criteria include scale of patient benefit; deliverability and conformity with charitable expenditure 
policy.  

  
These committees also make recommendations on expenditure from designated and restricted 
funds.  Larger proposals, especially for expenditure from unrestricted funds, may also be received 
directly and considered by the Charitable Expenditure Committee.  
 
The advisory committees, together with their remit and allocations are as follows:  
 

Committee  Remit  2019/20 

Professional Advisory 
Committee (PAC)- 
now combined with 
Patient Amenities 
Panel 
  

Equipment, works, staffing, external 
grants - if not related to research and 
patient amenity projects.  

£130,000  

Research Advisory 
Committee (RAC) 
  

Research projects, infrastructure and 
medical and NMAHP fellowships  

£200,000  

Innovation Panel  
  

Innovation projects   £70,000  

  
Examples of projects funded through these various routes are given in the sections on our 
achievements. See pages 11-17. 

 
Fund advisors   

  
The Trustees are responsible for a total of around 600 restricted and designated unrestricted 
funds, each of which supports a different department, ward, clinic, research or other programme in 
line with donors’ preferences.  Fund advisors, who are mostly senior clinical staff with specialist 
knowledge of the department or purposes supported by the fund, are responsible for 
expenditure.  There is a minimum of two fund advisors for each fund and advisors can spend up to 
£5,000 for charitable purposes.  Approval by ACT’s Chief Executive is required for spends above 
this and approval by Trustees is required for expenditure over £10,000. 
 
Delegating to fund advisors in this way means that expenditure decisions are well-informed and 
have the further benefit of encouraging the involvement of staff in fundraising.  

 
During 2019/20 around 49% (2018/19 34%) of expenditure by value and 97% (2018/19 96%) by 
volume of transactions were approved by fund advisors under delegated authority.  
 
During 2019/20 an ACT project team was set up to initiate the reduction of the number of 
designated funds by encouraging the concept of consolidation across specialities. The project 
objective is to make greater amounts available out of which relevant large project spend could take 
place. It is anticipated to be made up of a number of phases which could span at least 2 years.   
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Programme delivery   
 
The Charity does not, in general, undertake the delivery of services as its operating model is to 
make grants in support of the service delivery of CUH.   The exception to this is Cambridge Global 
Health Partnerships, link charity number 1170103-113, which provides comprehensive support 
services to health care professionals at CUH, and from across NHS services in Cambridgeshire, to 
inspire and enable them to improve healthcare globally through engaging in health partnerships 
activity in low and middle-income countries.   The international experiences develop staff in a 
number of ways, through working in challenging and resource-poor environments and gaining 
understanding of cross-cultural approaches to healthcare.  
 

During 2019, CGHP implemented health partnership activity in Botswana, Myanmar and Uganda 
extending our work in Uganda to cancer services in collaboration with Cambridge Africa and the 
CRUK Cambridge Centre. Our grant programme supported NHS staff to undertake placements in 
Guatemala, India, The Philippines and Zimbabwe, and medical students to undertake their 
electives within our health partnership in Myanmar. Ninety NHS staff were involved in CGHP work 
during the year contributing 688 volunteer days We also hosted visits to Cambridge by four 
delegations from The Philippines and 14 partners from Botswana, Myanmar and Uganda. One 
hundred and twenty-four individuals contacted CGHP to express interest in our work. 
Unfortunately, some activity towards the end of the financial year was curtailed by Covid-19 with 
three international visits postponed indefinitely and the second East of England Global Health 
Conference delayed until November 2020.  

A new CGHP website was created www.cambridgeghp.org, and the CGHP Strategy 2020+ was 
launched in March 2020. Our Strategy ‘Wheel’ depicts our three strategic areas – deliver, enable 
and achieve underpinned by our values of safe, effective and ethical. The focus for the next period 
of our work will be to achieve breadth, impact and rigour.  

 
Assets held for hospital-related purposes   
 
The Charity has a programme-related investment (PRI) policy that allows for total PRI of up to 15% 
of total investment and sets the parameters for management.  Risks associated with PRI are 
managed through legally-binding agreements with CUH, covering such matters as asset 
ownership, maintenance, insurances, liabilities and indemnities.  Maintenance contracts are 
administered through the Fund for Addenbrooke’s Ltd (FFA Ltd).  These arrangements have 
enabled the hospital to acquire leading edge technology.  The financial performance of these 
investments has been consistent with the objectives set by Trustees.  
 
The Charity also owns two of the six MRI scanners in use by the hospital.  Under long-standing 
agreements with CUH, these are made available for hospital use and the hospital pays 
management charges to the Charity’s charitable trading subsidiary, FFA Ltd.  These arrangements 
create a surplus which is transferred back to ACT, building a sinking fund for scanner replacement.  
These arrangements have enabled the hospital to remain at the leading edge of MRI technology 
for the past quarter century.  The current agreements run until December 2021. 
 
Investment management   
 
The Investment Committee meets twice a year and reviews policy and performance.  
 
Performance against benchmarking is indicated by the investment managers in their report to each 
meeting of the Investment Committee.  The committee includes both Trustees and external experts 
for whose voluntary contribution the Trustees are extremely grateful. 
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The portfolio is managed by two investment managers and each has been set a different 
investment objective. 
 
The financial investment objectives are as follows:  
 
• To preserve capital, i.e. limited capital losses over specified time periods.  

 
• To achieve returns that exceed those available from cash and other short-term deposits.  

 
• To provide sufficient cash at all times to meet the expenditure requirements arising from 

charitable expenditure decisions and operating requirements.  
 

• To hold investment management costs at a level that is proportionate to asset values and 
represents value for money. 

 

In order to deliver these objectives, the investment managers for the year under review had the 
following targets: 
 
• Investment Manager 1– To preserve capital, i.e. not to lose money on a rolling 12-month 

basis. Investment Manager 1 was given notice in 2018/19. 
 

• Replacement Investment Manager 1 (started May 2019) - To exceed cash returns on a total 
returns basis net of fees, without exceeding losses of over 5% in any 12-month rolling period 
to a 90% probability.  

 

• Investment Manager 2 – Not to lose greater than 5% of capital value on a rolling 12-month 
basis. 

 

• Both managers have been targeted to achieve returns that exceed those available from cash 
and other short-term deposits. 

 
 
The monitoring of these objectives has been delegated to the Investment Committee.  The Charity 
will not invest in any company or collective fund with significant involvement in tobacco products, 
whether direct and indirect, as this would be in conflict with the aims of the Charity, tobacco being 
harmful to health and therefore creating an additional burden on NHS resources.
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Section 6. Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust strategic  review 
Our strategic goals: 
 
We are embracing the hospital as part of the Charity’s DNA, striving to become purpose-led to ensure we become the charity of choice  for all 
Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie staff and patients.  We will grow existing relationships and develop new ones to sustainably increase income.  Our 
ambition (set in 2014/15) continues to be to double fundraised income and expenditure to benefit patients and support CUH’s overall strategy. 
 
Our objectives in 2019/20 and how we performed : 

 
Objective 

 
Deliverables  Achievements  

Become the UK’s leader in Grateful 
Patient Fundraising to seismically 
shift our income  

Deliver voluntary income of £5.8m, which, 
whilst below the outstanding 2018/19 result, 
targets income increases in all areas other 
than legacy income. 
 
Develop, improve and grow our Grateful 
Patients programme through our hospital 
engagement programme. 

 

 

The Charity delivered within £300k of this target. Legacies performed at 
average levels and year on year growth was achieved in donations and 
grants. Excluding legacies voluntary income grew by 26%. 

 
We achieved full complement in our Hospital Engagement team and have 52 
out of 92 hospital departments supported by them. 
 
We increased the visibility of the charity by installing materials in 80 areas of 
the hospital, including wards, clinics and public areas.  
 
We ran two past patient mailings for the first time since 2017.  There has 
been concern over this format of communication given the changes to GDPR 
regulations; however, we have successfully achieved this now which will 
enable us to do more in the future.  These are a key way to connect with 
grateful patients. 
 
A further 100 clinicians were trained in recognising when a patient would like 
to give, and how to refer them to the charity.  
 
3,687 new names were added to the database, with most of these people 
wanting to say thank you to the hospital for the care given.  
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Objective  
 

Deliverables  Achievements  

Increase visibility of the Charity on 
the hospital campus so that all staff 
and the majority of patients know 
about ACT 

 

Use communications materials and a staff 
engagement programme to include new 
induction content measured by an increase 
in staff awareness of the Charity as 
measured in the annual staff survey. 

We were able to build two dedicated fundraising hubs within the hospital – in 
the main concourse and outpatients. We also have extensive ACT branded 
artwork in Ward C5, the Breast Unit, Paediatric A&E, Oncology Day Unit and 
Radiotherapy. Throughout the year, we also introduced five contactless 
points, printed over 4000 donation envelopes for across the hospital, and 
decorated the hospital with over 65 posters. We have also designed and 
printed over 45,000 leaflets, flyers, invitations, reports, postcards and 
certificates. We also introduced new children’s t-shirts, coffee cups and water 
bottles for sale via our hubs, events and website. 
 
From the annual NHS staff survey we found that 95% of staff knew about 
ACT, a significant increase on previous surveys. 
 

Develop  our staff  Ensure they have the right skills, tools and 
are in the right jobs, with every member of 
staff having a development plan in place 

 We invested £11,600 in training for staff, including attendance for ten staff at 
the Institute of Fundraising Annual Conference, increasing the number of first 
aiders in the office, and spent time during a full staff meeting Mastering Time 
and Learning Focus. 
 
We had a strong year with our recruitment activity and recruited into key posts 
including our Head of Capital Campaigns, Trusts and Foundations and 
Hospital Engagement roles.  The latter two roles have been challenging to 
recruit to previously due to supply shortages, therefore we tried new and 
innovative ways to attract candidates, including attendance at a recruitment 
evening which proved fruitful. 

 
We also took advantage of free training and support provided by donors – 
this included some great work on impact measurement and financial 
sustainability which was provided by The Dunhill Medical Trust, in partnership 
with Moore Kingston Smith, for their grant-holders.  

 
At the beginning of the year we worked with staff to determine our culture and 
values – through this our values were determined as Ambitious, Supportive, 
Innovative and ACT with Integrity .  We continue to embed these into the 
culture of the organisation.  We developed a strategic brief for staff - a 
‘strategy on a page’ through participative workshops. 
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Objective  
 

Deliverables   Achievements  

Develop our staff  (continued)  Ensure they have the right skills, tools and 
are in the right jobs, with every member of 
staff having a development plan in place 

 Line management training was provided to support the importance of 
appraisals, continuous review and effective feedback and having difficult 
conversations. 

Launch a capital campaign: 
Children’s Hospital 

 

Have the right resources and campaign 
plan in place. At the time of signing this 
report, the Charity is actively supporting the 
capital project to develop a Children’s 
Hospital in Cambridge. 

 

We recruited the new team and by the end of the financial year had in place 
a Head of Capital Campaigns, Major Donor Fundraiser and a Trusts and 
Foundations Lead. 
We drafted and signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Cambridge 
University and the Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Foundation Trust Charity 
for a collaborative approach to raising the funds for the children’s hospital. 
The ACT CEO has worked as part of the Joint Strategic Board and sits on 
the Campaign Board. 
The team has been working centrally on the programme to ensure the basis 
for the campaign was developed including the new work on communications 
materials. 
A pipeline is in development with over 100 prospects  

Ensure strategic alignment with the 
hospital  

Demonstrate that ACT is open for business 
to support, enable and transform the 
hospital. 
Develop our charitable expenditure process 
and ensure that we are in a position to 
spend £5m and demonstrate its impact in 
support of the hospital’s strategic goals. 
 

We ran our 3rd Innovation event for the Hospital with two separate panels 
from across the health system, debating the topic of Frailty and how we can 
innovate to solve some of the challenges.  Bringing together the Hospital 
teams and the various interconnections across the health system is a 
significant step forward in determining future healthcare models 
 
We were fortunate to work with the hospital teams in developing a new 
transformational project to launch a new 3D scanning service.  This service 
enables the hospital to manage complex cases in house, without the need to 
utilise remote support from other providers, most predominantly in the US.  
This will mean faster and better patient outcomes.  The use of the 3D 
scanning will also mean greater results and outcomes for the patients 
treated.  This service may be extended across other disciplines once this is 
rolled out and is transformational for the hospital teams. 
 
We also engaged with the Director of Strategy and a small team of 
Executives within the hospital to ensure that greater alignment between the 
projects funded and the strategic priorities of the hospital were met.  This 
work continues as we seek to formalise a model whereby this happens more 
proactively at the beginning of planning cycles. 
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Objective 
 

Deliverables  Achievements  

Impact  Strengthen our ability to deliver greater 
measures and impact analysis through 
increased liaison with grant recipients and 
involvement in health economics models. 

Through our hospital engagement model, we are working more closely with 
the grant recipients and donors and delivered an impact report for our 
supporters and hospital team in the Autumn quarter. 
 
As a result of the Covid-19 activity we have set up a series of targeted 
seminars connecting the clinicians and hospital teams with the donors to 
detail the programmes progress and their impact on patients.  This has been 
hugely successful and will likely be a continued activity post the pandemic. 
 
During the year we began to scope out the requirements for a Grant 
Management System to better enable us to track deliverables and impact 
measures.  This will also better enable the allocation of grants and the 
continued reporting levels that we would like to achieve.  Work had 
commenced in identifying the business plan for this along with potential 
providers and this work will resume when the current phase of activity slows 
down.  Impact reporting remains a key priority for the charity. 
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Our strategic objectives and their associated deliv erables  for the next 12 months  
 

Objective  

 
Deliverables  

Become the UK’s leader in Grateful 
Patient Fundraising to seismically shift 
our income  

Deliver voluntary income of £3.2m, which attempts to reflect the potential impact of Covid-19 on the Charity.  
 
Continue to develop, improve and deliver our Grateful Patients strategy through our hospital engagement programme. 
 
Review our existing framework to ensure we develop a sustainable model for income and expenditure aligned with the 
hospital strategy and changing landscape. 
 
Develop our proposition of making the hospital even better through the new propeller model, including a broader and 
more general ask to grow our general fund and strengthen support we can give to strategic hospital projects. 

 
Increase visibility of the Charity on the 
hospital campus so that all staff and 
the majority of patients know about 
ACT 

 

Use communications materials and a Hospitals staff engagement programme to include new induction content 
measured by an increase in staff awareness of the Charity as measured in the annual staff survey, including a monthly 
staff newsletter and increased email interactions with donors and grateful patients. 
 
Throughout 2019/20 we have been working on a plan for broader Brand Refresh which will be rolled out throughout 
20/21 

 
Develop our staff  
 

 

 

Ensure they have the right skills, tools and are in the right jobs, with every member of staff having a development plan in 
place. 
Ensure support for mental health through training and interventions considering the impact of Covid-19. 

 
Continue to build a capital campaign  

 
Further develop the campaign plan for ACT, ensuring we can respond to the ever-changing external environment 

Ensure strategic alignment with the 
hospital 
 

 

Undertake a review of our fundraising strategy to ensure full alignment with the hospital and the increased emphasis on 
capital campaigns – the children’s hospital, the cancer research hospital and the new Addenbrooke’s v3 programme.   
Work with the hospital strategy team to ensure that the charity is best placed to support new strategic projects, and 
prioritise charitable expenditure against the hospital’s strategic priorities. 

 
Impact 
 

 

Strengthen our ability to deliver greater measures and impact analysis through increased liaison with grant recipients 
and involvement in health economics models. 
Ensure that we communicate widely the response to Covid-19 and deliver long lasting impact on the new and 
transformed ways of working - including how we support the shift in focus on keeping people out of hospital. 
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Section 6 (continued) Our response to Covid-19 
 
Running the Charity 

At the beginning of March, it was clear that there were likely to be changes required to our working 
arrangements in order to protect staff and patients in light of what was emerging with regards to 
the Covid-19 pandemic.  The Charity Business Continuity Plan was implemented.  The Senior 
Management Team (SMT) acted swiftly and moved all staff off of the hospital site and implemented 
remote working from home by the middle of March. Fortunately, many of the team were already 
fully conversant with working from home and technology was in place to support this. However, 
along with many other organisations, managing an entire team remotely was a new challenge.  

A hierarchy of contact meetings with the teams using the video conferencing technology available 
has helped us all keep in touch. In particular, the ACT team had fortnightly Q&A sessions with the 
SMT and a Trustee representative and weekly updates from the CEO. The HR Lead has held twice 
weekly ‘tea@3’ sessions as a way to informally keep staff engaged and in discussion across 
teams.  These have helped to keep the team updated on matters that affect them such as – ‘when 
will we return to the office?’, working safely from home.  

In April a new budget was agreed by the Trustees which assumed a 25% fall in voluntary income 
when compared to the 2019/20 financial year. A cost ratio was set by the Trustees that effectively 
limited the Charity’s operating costs and thereby protected our free reserves for the future. 

In order to constrain our operating costs, without impacting on our ability to generate income for 
the crisis, we furloughed a small number of the charity team - six in total. In addition, a further eight 
staff members were temporarily redeployed to support the hospital – setting up and running the 
accommodation service for staff and managing the hundreds of offers of support that came 
flooding in from members of the public and the wider business community.   

A small group of three Trustees also made themselves available to the CEO on a weekly basis to 
aid in resolving matters that required a quick turnaround. 

Generating income and managing support 

We were one of the first NHS charities to launch an Emergency Appeal. We launched an 
integrated campaign including PR, radio, a text to donate appeal and a new web page - 
www.helpyourhospital.co.uk within a few days. We drafted a case for support and went straight out 
to ask our major donors to support us. We asked our fundraisers and ambassadors to take part in 
Tea At 3 –a way of connecting communities via virtual fundraising which helped double our number 
of fundraisers.  

We have innovated new ways of supporting community fundraisers and have been hugely 
successful, with an additional 261 new community fundraisers raising funds for us in the period 
April to June 2020. Our emergency direct mail appeal to current donors raised over £223,000 
against an initial budget of £45,000. Over 2,000 people responded with an average gift of £110.  

Over the lock down period 4,035 donors have given, raising over £1.2m including pledges. 

The whole ACT team has stepped up to supporting the emergency appeal focus and has been a 
huge testament to every staff member’s commitment to our cause.    



Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust 
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2019/20 

28 
 

We deployed two of ACT’s hospital engagement team to run the hospital’s accommodation service 
which provided staff with over 5,000 nights’ sleep. Our CGHP team also supported the childcare 
provision service offered by the hospital. 

We co-ordinated over 600 offers of goods to the hospital and set up Thank You Thursdays which 
meant that we “airlifted” essentials, foods and treats direct to wards and departments.  

Making other funds available for the crisis 
 
At a special Trustees meeting in April 2020, in accordance with their powers, £976,000 drawn from 
11 designated legacy funds was made available for any charitable purpose relating to the 
Coronavirus/Covid-19 outbreak and aftermath. Where family or friends are still in contact with the 
charity they were consulted in advance. 
 
Using the funds to make a difference 
 

The Charity focused hard on providing support to the areas of greatest need as quickly as the 
Hospitals identified those demands that could not be fulfilled by government funding.  

We commenced ‘Rapid Relief Research panels’ with the help of over 20 research and clinical staff 
from the hospital.  These meetings took place every two weeks, and over £1m has been allocated 
to research into Covid-19.  The Charitable Expenditure Committee commenced rapid response 
meetings that took place within 24 hours of the research panels to ensure we could move quickly 
with the decision making and governance procedures required.  We look forward to sharing more 
specific impact analysis of these research efforts within the next year as the work unfolds and are 
hugely excited about this work and the impact that this may have locally, nationally and on a global 
scale.   

We have also supported staff and patients through well-being spaces, technology to help patients 
and staff communicate with family unable to visit the hospital and the development of APPS to 
enable clinicians to support patients remotely. 

At this point we expect to have fully spent the nearly £2.2m available and below are some 
examples: 

Research: Creating a rapid staff screening process  
 
Dr Michael Weekes, Honorary Consultant in Infectious Diseases at Addenbrooke’s Hospital, is 
working to create a screening process for staff at the hospital.  
 
Healthcare workers treating patients that have tested positive for Covid-19 are at a significantly 
higher risk of exposure to the virus, and, tragically, have become infected themselves in various 
hospitals across the UK. However, it is possible to contract the virus and not show any symptoms 
at all, whilst unknowingly transmitting it to others.  
 
The priority at Addenbrooke’s is to not only treat our patients, but to keep staff safe.  
As a result, this project looks to provide a rapid staff screening process, which would provide staff 
with additional reassurance that infection control measures are effective and would therefore also 
help to prevent additional infections within the hospital.  
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Staff Support: Wellbeing Rooms 
 

Staff often have nowhere to go to ‘decompress’ on breaks or after facing a particularly upsetting 
situation. For these staff, thanks to generous support from The Alborada Trust, we have been able 
to create a peaceful space in the hospital where they can choose to reflect or simply have some 
quiet time.  
 
These rooms are being implemented in hospitals across the country and have proved to be an 
important tool in ensuring staff have a safe, discrete space to reflect. 
 
Patient support: Physio rehabilitation 
 

Thanks to your support, ACT has been able to provide specialised equipment for the inpatient 
physiotherapy department to aid the rehabilitation of Covid-19 patients. 

The equipment consists of five Topro Taurus pulpit frames (pictured, right) for the DME ward 
(Department of Medicine for the Elderly), which offer significantly more support than a standard 
walking frame and will assist with earlier mobilisation of patient group.  

This in turn will help to avoid secondary complications such as pressure sores, pneumonia, and 
deconditioning of the muscles, heart, and lungs, and will assist with earlier discharge from the 
hospital. The equipment will remain a valuable resource for patient rehabilitation following the 
Covid-19 efforts. 

CUH Arts and Covid-19 
 
CUH Arts has extended their work on interactive art and have been able to support staff wellbeing 
activity throughout the Covid crisis, quickly responding to a new unmet need to provide resources 
for staff.   

With all regular hospital-based programmes suspended at the beginning of lockdown, CUH Arts 
quickly re-focussed to provide interactive arts activities to directly support the physical and 
emotional health of our staff and patients. Creative wellbeing resources for front-line staff were 
dispatched on the ground, and a new social media presence enabled opportunities to connect with 
staff working and shielding at home.  For patients, new creative care packs provided much-needed 
engagement for patients experiencing heightened anxiety. 

CUH Archives and Covid-19 
 
The Archives has been documenting CUH’s response to the pandemic and the local community’s 
response to the Hospital and its staff.  Artefacts such as photographs, diaries, videos and posters 
have been collected and will be held in the archive to inform future generations of how the hospital 
and staff worked through the crisis.    
 
Special thanks: 
 
Our donors 
 
We would like to extend a special thanks to all those who have joined with us in support of the 
hospital during this crisis.  The hospital and the ACT team have been humbled, inspired and 
overwhelmed by the acts of enormous gratitude and support shown by our community. 
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The team at ACT 
 
The team at ACT has worked extremely hard demonstrating great creativity, resilience and 
courage throughout this challenging time.  Furthermore, the wonderful Trustees of the Charity have 
been incredibly supportive and enabled the team to deliver the amazing results.  We are also 
grateful to the hospital staff who raised their head up from the crisis to engage with us and support 
us in our efforts to raise funds and deliver real impact. 
 
There is so much to be thankful for; we are grateful that the team has stayed safe, they have 
embraced remote working and they have been agile in responding to the hospital.  It has been all 
of our privilege to play a small part in the amazing efforts of CUH staff at this very difficult and 
challenging time. 
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Section 7. Financial Review   
  
Whilst 2019/20 total income at £7.3m was 18% down o n the previous year, the 
Charity achieved growth in key voluntary income are as. The driver behind the 
significant fall was legacy income which at £1.9m w as £1.9m below the record 
breaking amount received in 2018/19.  Charitable ex penditure at £5.4m 
disappointingly fell back again by 12%, but this re flected: 
  
• most significantly, no new major research projects being funded in year 
• the continuing difficulty of identifying appropriat e projects to fund in the 

Hospitals  
 
There were a number of matters which affected the overall financial performance: 
 
• Legacy income fell back to a level more in keeping with the periods prior to 2018/19 – the 

year which benefitted from two large legacies totalling £3.1m. 
 

• Income from activities within the hospital continued to be referred to CUH or the trading 
company because of its nature – this reduced income by almost £300,000. 

 
• A Programme Related Investment agreement regarding the Surgical Robot was not 

renewed. 
  

• CGHP successfully generated £280,000 from a range of funders including Health Education 
England.  

 
• Over £100,000 was received as early donations in respect of the Cambridge Children’s 

Hospital. 
 
• A team of three was recruited to begin working with Cambridge University and the Mental 

Health Trust in building a campaign to fundraise for the philanthropic element of funding for a 
Children’s Hospital in Cambridge. Campaign branding costs of £40,000 were also incurred. 

 
• The fundraising team achieved full strength for the first time in 3 years, 
 
In summary, therefore: 

 
Total income fell by 18% to £7.3m from £8.9m.  Voluntary income (excluding legacies) grew by 
26%. When legacies are included, voluntary income fell by 17%. This was due to the 51% year-on 
-year fall in legacy income when compared to the exceptionally high levels of 2018/19. 
 
Total expenditure decreased by 4%.  Fundraising expenditure (£1.8m) increased by 20% whilst 
charitable activities (£5.4m) decreased by 12%. 
 
Of every pound we spent in the year, 71p (2018/19: 77p) was spent on charitable purposes, 27p 
(2018/19: 21p) on fundraising and the running of the Charity, and 2p (2018/19: 2p) on investment 
management.   
 
Every pound of total income we raised cost us 30p (2018/19: 20p) to raise. As expected this ratio 
has increased due to the significant out-turn in legacies during 2018/19 and is predicted to 
increase further in 20/21 as a result of the impact of Covid-19. 
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Every pound of voluntary income we raised cost us 31p (2018/19: 22p) in fundraising costs. This 
increase is as expected and reflects the significant fall in legacy income during the year. 
 
The decrease in spend on charitable activities was primarily in the area of research which fell by 
£1m (50%) year on year. Spend on patients grew by 16% as a result of the commitment to fund the 
new 3D Surgical Planning service  
 
The overall performance of the Charity's investment portfolios was neutral with a small total loss of 
£0.2m (2018/19 £0.3m gain).  This included the impact of Covid-19 in the last quarter of the 
financial year which saw market values across the portfolios fall by almost £0.9m (a fall of 5% 
underlining the Charity’s cautious investment strategy). Strong growth across the portfolios up to 
the final quarter cushioned this impact. 
 
In June 2019, CCLA took over as one of the Charity’s two fund managers and in November 2019 
£500,000 was transferred from cash into the Hambros portfolio. 
 
The Charity operates a conservative investment strategy. In the final quarter of the year investment 
values suffered in response to the pandemic, however by the end of August these had recovered 
to pre Covid-19 levels.  
 
The Charity’s investment properties, in consultation with our property managers, were left at 
2018/19 values at the end of the year (their quinquennial valuation carried out in March 2017 was 
adjusted downwards by 7% in 2018/19).  Once again this reflects the properties' proximity to the 
hospitals (from where most tenants are sourced, and which generates a strong rental income 
stream).  
 
As a result of this overall performance, reserves fell by £0.6m (2018/19 Increased by £0.8m).  

 
Income   
 
Of the decrease in total income of £1.6m, £1.2m is attributable to the fall in voluntary income driven 
by legacy receipts falling to more typical levels.  
 
Total voluntary income fell by 17% to £5.6m.  This was entirely due to the £1.9m fall in legacy 
receipts. This fall was partially offset by grants and trusts being up year on year by 43% – due to 
funding secured for major hospital projects of interest to grant givers e.g. The 3D surgical planning 
service (Conebeam) and The Emmeline Centre project, plus high levels of grants received for 
CGHP activity. Donations also increased by 44% - benefitting from some extremely successful 
direct mail campaigns and the early contributions to the Campaign for the Cambridge Children’s 
hospital. 
 
The Charity is disappointed that it missed its voluntary income targets (excluding legacies) by 
£300,000 (8%). It had hoped to be able to fundraise for more major hospital projects during the 
year than were in the end available.  
 
Income in the trading subsidiary from Programme Related Investments at £1.0m (2018/19: £1.3m) 
reduced due to the non-renewal of the financial agreement for the Da Vinci Surgical Robot (‘the 
robot’). The Charity continues to allow Addenbrooke’s to use ‘the robot’ free of charge and all 
maintenance costs are now their responsibility.  
 
In accordance with the Charity’s strategy, income from charitable activities fell again by 65%.  The 
£0.3m decrease is entirely due to the Charity encouraging hospital departmental education income 
generating activity to be accounted for and processed by the Hospitals.   
 
Investment income increased by 7% (£32,000) due to increased property rental income. 
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Expenditure   

Total expenditure fell by £0.4m, a 4% decrease year on year.  
 
Expenditure on raising funds (charity) at £1.8m (of which £1.5m is direct fundraising salary and 
other costs) increased by 20%.  This reflected a full fundraising headcount, the recruitment part 
way through the year of an initial team of three fundraisers for the Cambridge Children’s Hospital 
Capital campaign and branding costs incurred for that Campaign. 
 
Expenditure on charitable activities fell by £0.8m (a reduction of 12%).  The most significant 
contributor to the reduction was in research costs which totalled £1.1m and reduced year on year 
by £1.1m as a result of no major research projects being presented for funding during year.   
 
Expenditure on patient welfare and amenities at £2.5m was up year on year by £349,000.  Material 
spend/commitments made during the year included £481,000 on Conebeam CT and 3D printer 
and service, £150,000 on Ward C5 refurbishment, £90,000 on Oncology Outpatients, £82,000 for 
Laparoscopic surgical kit; £60,000 for an incubator for the ANTS service 
 
Grants awarded at £2.1m include board commitments to key major projects (e.g. Conebeam).  The 
open grants programme budget was maintained at the 2018/19 levels, but increased grants to the 
Arts and CGHP were awarded. 
 
Some of the major items of expenditure in 2019/20 are outlined in the section on ‘achievements 
during the year’.  
 
The balance sheet of the Charity remains strong with £16m invested in the Charity’s absolute 
return portfolio; £5.8m in residential property and £4.9m in short-term bank deposits.   
 
Reserves  
 
As a consequence of the decrease in income, decrease in expenditure and the investment losses, 
total funds fell to £25.7m from £26.3m.  Of this, £23.1m or 90% is held in restricted or designated 
funds.  

 
Free reserves  
 
In June 2017 (and May 19), the free reserves policy of holding at least six months operating costs 
was approved by the Trustees. This was agreed on the basis that the Charity has recourse to 
around 400 funds which it administers in the event that adverse economic conditions affect the 
Charity's ability to raise funds.  The policy is to treat unrestricted and undesignated funds as free 
reserves.  At the balance sheet date, these amounted to £2.6m, including £9,000 in respect of the 
trading subsidiary.  
 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, in April 2020 the Trustees approved a revised 2020/21 
budget which assumes a 25% fall in voluntary income. A forecast of free reserves for the year 
based on the revised budget indicates that free reserves could fall by at least 40% over the next 12 
months.  
 
Operating costs are budgeted to be £2.1m for 2020/21 of which 72% are staff costs. The Trustees 
have confirmed their willingness to use surplus free reserves to fund the grants programme 
(approximately £554,000 in 2020/21), to maintain investment in fundraising expertise and to 
continue to fund the investment in the Children’s Hospital Campaign. 
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Designated funds   
 
Designated funds hold monies donated where donors have expressed a preference without 
imposing a binding trust.  The Trustees can remove the designation of funds at any time if an 
urgent need arises.  At 31 March 2020, there were 400 designated funds totalling £18.2m and they 
hold monies donated for a particular ward or specialism and amounts set aside for grants made by 
the Charity.   
  
In April 2020, on the grounds of urgent need, the Trustees exercised their right to re-designate 
£976,000 of funds to be used towards the Covid-19 crisis. 
 
The balances held in designated funds are regularly reviewed to determine whether these funds 
are likely to be committed in the near future and the extent to which there is a continuing need 
identified for any particular designated fund(s).  Any inactive funds are closed, and the funds 
transferred to free reserves. 
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Section 8. Our structure, governance and management   
  
Our legal status   
  
Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust (ACT) is the officially recognised registered charity supporting 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.  

  
On 1 April 2017, the Charity was incorporated as an independent charity and ceased to be an NHS 
charity.  The entire undertaking of the unincorporated NHS charity known as Addenbrooke’s 
Charitable Trust (the ‘old charity’) was transferred to a company (‘new charity’ known by the same 
name) limited by guarantee and registered with Companies House (registered company number 
10469089) and with the Charity Commission for England and Wales (registered charity number 
1170103) (the 'Charity').  The Charity is subject to both charity and company law. 
 
The Charity’s governing document is its Memorandum and Articles of Association. 
 
The purposes of the various funds held by the Charity remain the same following the transfer. 
 
The Charity also owns a non-charitable subsidiary, The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Ltd (company 
number 4287054), which serves as a vehicle for non-charitable trading activity.  
 
In addition to responsibility for Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust, the Trustees are also responsible 
for various precursor and related charities.  Cambridge Global Health Partnerships (formerly 
Addenbrooke’s Abroad) has objects that extend to the promotion of health in countries other than 
the UK.  Addenbrooke’s Hospital Recreational and Development Trust owns the freehold of the 
hospital’s sports and social club, which is maintained and managed by CUH under a long 
leasehold agreement.  
 
Governance and management   
  
The Trustees are collectively responsible for the overall governance and strategy of the Charity 
and for ensuring that the Charity acts in a way that is consistent with its objects and results in 
public benefit.  There were eleven trustees in office throughout the year.  There were nine 
independent trustees and two trustees representing the CUH NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
In 2020/21 the Trustees will be seeking to temporarily increase the number of Trustee positions to 
facilitate a smooth transition for those Trustees who have reached their maximum term of office 
and to allow for the need to focus on the strategic drivers of the hospital namely, capital campaigns 
and the development of Addenbrooke’s 3. 
 
The Trustees are responsible for the administration of the Charity and for ensuring that assets are 
properly managed, controlled and safeguarded in accordance with company and charity law.  
 
The Trustee appointments process is designed to ensure fairness and openness and ensure a 
trustee body that has the mix of experience, skills, knowledge and competencies required.  All 
vacancies are advertised, and selection is made against a person specification agreed with the 
Nominations Committee (NC), which is linked to the Human Resources Committee (HRC).  An 
independent external assessor, nominated by the NC, is involved in the selection process, 
including interviews.  Trustees are appointed for four-year terms in the first instance, renewable up 
to ten years, subject to satisfactory performance.  New trustees are introduced to the Charity 
through an induction process that involves ACT and CUH staff and other trustees.   
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The Trustees are volunteers and do not receive any remuneration for their services but may claim 
reasonable expenses incurred in connection with their attendance at meetings or other duties.  No 
trustee claimed expenses in the financial year.  Trustees are required to disclose all relevant 
interests and withdraw from any decisions where a conflict of interest arises.  The Trustees meet 
formally as a full governing body four times a year but also meet less formally from time to time for 
strategic planning and other developmental activities.  

  
The Trustees appoint a Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Treasurer from among their number as 
honorary officers.  The terms of these appointments are three years, renewable up to a maximum 
term as trustees.  
  
The Trustees confirm that they are aware of the requirements of The Charities Act 2011 that they 
must have regard to the guidance of the Charity Commission in relation to public benefit and have 
considered the guidance “Public benefit: the public benefit requirement (September 2013)”.  ACT’s 
activities make a difference for the extensive community served by CUH, as evidenced in this 
report.  
 
Trustee committees   
  
The Trustees delegate responsibility for more detailed consideration of the Charity’s affairs to six 
committees, each including at least three places for trustee members, chaired by a trustee and 
reporting to the Board of Trustees.  

  
• The Finance and General Purposes Committee: oversees and provides advice on audit, 

administration, finance, risk and employment matters 
 
• The Charitable Expenditure Committee: reviews and decides upon applications for grants 

and overseeing charitable expenditure 
 
• The Investment Committee: advises on the Charity’s investment policy and oversees the 

investment management process 
  
• The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee: oversees and reviews policies and 

issues affecting staff and volunteers.  Pay and remuneration for key management personnel 
is recommended to the Board of Trustees by the Remuneration Committee. Reference is 
made to other NHS charity salaries and sector wide senior salary benchmark reports in 
arriving at their recommendations 

  
• The Nominations Committee: oversees the process of recruitment and selection of trustees 

and the Chief Executive Officer on behalf of the trustee body  
  
• Fundraising Committee: oversees fundraising for charitable purposes and advises the board 

on policy, processes and procedures for the support, control and direction of charitable 
fundraising. 

  
Board effectiveness review     
 
Following the 2018/19 board effectiveness review, the Trustees completed a half day Board 
workshop to develop a Board Charter to enable the board as a whole to clarify, re-confirm and 
align its vision and strategy together. This document is now widely used to engage trustees, review 
performance and to support the recruitment of committee advisors and new trustees.  
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During the year we implemented a board level action log and a decision log and these are now in 
operation across most of the trustee committees.,  
 
A further board review against the Charity Governance Code 2017 will be undertaken in 2021. 
 
Organisation structure   

  
The Charity delivers its charitable objectives through the following organisation structure (key 
management personnel shaded) which came into being from 1 September 2019:  
  
 

 
 
 
Fundraising    
 
ACT employs a team of professional fundraising staff whose main focus is on acquiring new 
donors and looking after our current donors well. Acquisition is driven by our Communications 
team and our Grateful Patients programme where we work directly with 52 of the hospital’s 92 
departments to raise awareness of handling philanthropy sensitively and professionally in a 
healthcare environment. The Grateful Patients programme also focuses on increasing awareness 
amongst hospital staff through on-site promotion, staff communications and impact. 

ACT is registered with the Fundraising Regulator and adheres to the Code of Fundraising Practice. 
ACT works with third-party suppliers to support and deliver our fundraising campaigns. All new 
suppliers (and any potential commercial participators) sign written agreements to adhere to ACT’s 
standards and policies; with reviews undertaken on a six-monthly basis. 

ACT’s fundraising policy sets out standards for protecting vulnerable people. Staff receive training 
and refreshers for how to protect vulnerable people. 

The Board reviewed 16 complaints with the Chief Executive at the quarterly board meetings during 
2019/20.  Complaints were diverse including how we spend donors’ money and timeliness of 
communication. The number of complaints has decreased from last year and we are now recording 
complaints from hospital staff as well as donors.  
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The public benefit arising from charitable expenditure is also monitored and communicated to 
supporters. 
 
In respect of ensuring that our fundraisers or fundraising activities do not pressurise vulnerable 
people, we have formalised, as part of introduction of the GDPR regulations, the need to have 
donors or potential donors to opt-in by providing consent to interacting with ACT. 

  
ACT is committed to safeguarding the security and protection of the personal information that we 
process, and to deliver a compliant and consistent approach to data protection in accordance with 
the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) which came into force on 25 May 2018.  All staff 
have undergone tutorials and training sessions to guarantee GDPR is kept at the heart of all of our 
activity and that our supporters are treated fairly and transparently.  
 
The Board of Trustees maintains overall oversight of governance and ethical aspects of fundraising 
and provides advice to senior management in order to support good governance and effective 
performance of the fundraising task.  
 
Volunteers  
  
The Charity is reliant on the support of our volunteers, many of whom have supported our work in 
fundraising for the hospitals over many years.  Volunteers provide this support in various ways: 
 
• as organisers of, or participants in, community fundraising events, such as challenge events 

or sponsored activities 
 
• by providing administrative support to the Charity’s staff across all areas.  
 
During 2019, our ambassador volunteers and office volunteers collectively gave on average 230 
hours of their time each month.  

This does not include the clinical fund advisors that so generously give their time to assist with the 
use of charitable funds.  The hospital manages the Hospital Volunteer Service which is 
independent of ACT.  
 
At the end of 2018/19 a volunteer co-ordinator was appointed to enable ACT to develop and 
expand the volunteer programme. Over the past year, the volunteer team has grown from 11 
members to 27, an increase of 145%.  

Cambridge Global Health Partnerships also relied on 688 volunteer days last year, (equating to 
approximately 7000 volunteer hours) to achieve its programme of support to countries with 
developing economies. Sadly, this is lower than the previous year as it benefited from two six- 
month volunteer placements which increased the volunteer hours achieved.  
 
Risk Management   

   
The Charity identifies and appraises operational and strategic risk through a process involving staff 
drawn from across the organisation.  Typically, an annual workshop is held, in which the staff 
involved identify, agree and classify risks.  The resulting risk register is reviewed by the senior 
management team and discussed with trustees on a quarterly basis.  
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Covid-19 pandemic 
 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Charity postponed its annual review and created a 
Covid-19 risk register in conjunction with the wider management team. 
 
It identified eight active risk areas made up of 20 individual risks.  Within these active risk areas, 
three identified risks in the fundraising category were ‘red-rated’ and the remainder were rated 
amber (10) or green (7).  The red risks were: 

 
Reduction in income during period of Covid-19 
 
Affected by: 
 
External Events have been cancelled or postponed until next year 
Social distancing may stop community events taking place                                                          
Economic factors may impact on giving 
Delay to our large project fundraising and other campaigns 
 
Mitigated by: 
 
A three phase fundraising plan tailoring fundraising activity to the gradual release of lockdown. 
Launching an emergency appeal quickly. 
Move away from specialist asks to a more general approach. 
 
Grateful Patient Programme (GPP) progress could be impacted 
 
Affected by: 
 

GPP training cannot proceed 
Relationship building with clinicians could be slowed down 
Further physical branding and awareness around the hospital cannot be rolled out 
Patient treatment will be delayed which will impact patient satisfaction 

 
Mitigated by: 
 

Strong communications with hospital teams 
 
Thanking of donors could be affected 
 
Affected by: 
 

All working offsite so post handling delayed 
 
Mitigated by: 
 

Key messages developed for donors on websites 
Telephone thanking taking place where possible                                                                                              
Implemented outsourced post handling 
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General Risk Register 
 
In addition, 13 risks (9 red, 4 amber) identified in the general risk register were deemed to be 
impacted by Covid-19 and included:  
 
Hospital based projects for which funding had alrea dy been secured not being 
started/completed due to the refocus of the hospita l on Covid-19. 
 
Mitigating actions 
Strong communications with hospital teams 
 
General fund balance below target free reserves as a result of lower income. 
 
Mitigating actions: Control ACT overheads, fundraising team seeking to actively upgrade donors to 
unrestricted asks. Formulate a financial contingency plan budget. 
 
Major investment losses as a result of extreme vola tility re Covid-19 impact on economy. 
 
Mitigating actions: Competent and risk averse investment committee that has implemented 
strategies for diversification and risk management. 
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Section 9. Our Trustees, Principal Officers and Leg al Advisors  
 
Patron   
 

The Countess of St Andrews  
 

President   
 
Sir Michael Marshall  Died 27 July 2019 
 
Dame Mary Archer From 1 September 2020 
 

Vice-President  
 

Dame Mary Archer Up to 31 August 2020 
  
  

Trustees   
  

Dr Rosalind Smith 1,4,5 Chairman of Trustees and Chairman of Nominations 
Committee  

  
Mr Chris Rees 1,2,4,5 Vice-Chairman of Trustees and Chairman of the 

Human Resources and Remuneration Committee  
 
Mr Keith Wade 1,4 Honorary Treasurer, Chairman of Finance and 

General Purposes Committee and Investment 
Committee  

 
Dr Fiona Cornish 3 Chairman of Charitable Expenditure Committee  
  
 
Dr Mike Knapton 6 Chairman of Fundraising Committee  

Representative of CUH NHS Foundation Trust, 
 
Mr John Ayton 1  
 
Dr Hugo Ford 3 Representative of CUH NHS Foundation Trust  
 
Mr William Fox 1,4 Appointed 4 August 2020 
 
Professor Helen Howe 2,3,5  
 
Mrs Claire Smith 6 
 
Mr Simon Thorley 4,5  

Mr Christopher Walkinshaw 2  
  

Trustees serve on the following committees: 
 

1 Finance and General Purposes Committee  
2 Human Resources and Remuneration Committee  
3 Charitable Expenditure Committee (formerly Grants Committee) 
4 Investment Committee  
5 Nominations Committee 
 6 Fundraising Committee 
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President – Cambridge Global Health Partnerships (f ormerly Addenbrooke’s 
Abroad ) 

 
Dame Mary Archer  

 
Principal Officers   

  
The Principal Officer roles are identified as Chief Executive, Director of Fundraising and 
Director of Finance. These are defined as key management personnel (known as the senior 
management team) due to their delegated responsibility for the day to day running of the 
Charity.  
  
Ms Shelly Thake, Chief Executive 
  
Mrs Gemma Downham, Director of Fundraising  
  
Mrs Julie Roy, Director of Finance  
 

 
Principal Advisors   

  
Ashtons Legal, legal advisors (employment) 
 
Barclays Bank, banking services  
  
CCLA Investment Management Ltd, investment managers 
 
Cheffins, property managers  
  
James Hambro & Partners LLP, investment managers  
 
Moore Kingston Smith LLP, auditors  
   
Withers LLP, legal advisors  

 
Other names used by the Charity  

  
ACT  
  

Contact information  
  
Principal office: Addenbrooke's Charitable Trust, Box 126, Addenbrooke’s Hospital, Hills Road, 
Cambridge, CB2 0QQ  
 
Tel:  01223 217757  
 
Email:  hello@act4addenbrookes.org.uk  
 
Website: www.act4addenbrookes.org.uk  
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Section 10. Statement of Trustees’ responsibilities   
 
The charity trustees (who are also the directors of  Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust 
for the purposes of company law) are responsible fo r preparing a trustees’ annual 
report and financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Genera lly Accepted Accounting 
Practice).  

 
Company law requires the charity trustees to prepare financial statements for each year which give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company and the group and of the 
incoming resources and application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the 
charitable group for that period.  

 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are required to: 
 
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently 
• observe the methods and principles in the Charities’ SORP 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent 
• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any 

material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements 
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that the charity will continue in business.  
 

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and to enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.  
 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and the group and hence 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  There 
were no serious incidents during the financial year that should have been reported to the Charity 
Commission but were not. 
 
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charitable company’s 
website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 
Statement as to disclosure to our auditors  

 
In so far as the trustees are aware at the time of approving our trustees’ annual report: 
 
• there is no relevant information, being information needed by the auditor in connection with 

preparing their report, of which the group’s auditor is unaware, and 
• the trustees, having made enquiries of fellow directors and the group’s auditor that they 

ought to have individually taken, have each taken all steps that he/she is obliged to take as a 
director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditor is aware of that information. 
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This report has been prepared in accordance with the special provisions of Part 15 of the 
Companies Act 2006 relating to small companies and with the Statement of Recommended 
Practice, Accounting and Reporting by Charities (FRS 102) effective 1 January 2015. 

 
By order of the Board of Trustees  

  
 

 
Signed:   
  
Chairman :       Date:   29 September 2020 
 
 

 
 
 
Hon Treasurer :      Date:   29 September 2020 
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Section 11. Special Thanks  
 

We would like to acknowledge the generous support f rom the following trusts and 
foundations whose gifts are enabling us to undertak e the following projects at the 
hospitals: 
 

 
The Alborada Trust 

Thanks to generous support from The Alborada Trust, the hospital is carrying out a programme of 
investigation into the clinical and cost effectiveness of 3D printing in surgery. Research projects are 
being carried out in a range of disciplines from across the hospitals and incorporate the use of 3D 
printed models. The project will increase access to the 3D printing service and help overcome 
some of the local barriers to adoption, thereby making the 3D printing service sustainable.  

 

The True Colours Trust 

In October 2019, the True Colours Trust awarded at grant of £20,000 to improve the parent/carer 
room on the Paediatric Intensive Care Unit at Addenbrooke’s. This grant is part of True Colours’ 
Breathing Spaces programme to improve parent/carer rooms in hospitals across the UK.  Thanks 
to this generous support, the hospital will be able to transform the current space to provide a ‘home 
from home’ environment for parents and carers of critically ill children. 

 

Philip King Charitable Trust 

Our thanks go to the Philip King Charitable Trust, who pledged £30,000 over three years towards a 
family therapist for Addenbrooke’s Hospital. The therapist will help families who are going through 
a crisis or a traumatic event, travelling across the region to wherever they are needed so that 
families don’t have to return to hospital. This project aims to create stronger family relationships 
and enable families to cope with whatever they are going through day-to-day. 

 

Road Safety Trust 

In May 2016, a grant was awarded to ACT to work with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Road 
Safety Partnership on a three-year research project which involves taking a detailed look at 
crashes that cause severe injury and death. In particular, the project focuses on examining the 
types of drivers who are involved in these crashes. This innovative project brings together partners 
from the Local Authority, Emergency Services, Loughborough University and Cambridge University 
Hospitals, and allows them the opportunity to explore the value of prevention strategies targeting 
groups of drivers with similar characteristics to those considered culpable (rather than victims). 
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Section 12. Auditor’s report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust for the year ended 31 
March 2020 which comprise the balance sheet, statement of financial activity, cash flow statement, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the parent charitable company’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2020 and of the group’s incoming resources and application of 
resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice; and 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and 
the Charities Act 2011. 

 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs(UK)) 
and applicable law.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the charitable company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where: 
 
• the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or 
• the trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material 

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the group’s and parent charitable 
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of 
at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

 
Other information 
 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The trustees are responsible for the other 
information.  Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If we identify such material inconsistencies 
or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
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misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.  If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 
• the information given in the trustees’ annual report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 
• the trustees’ annual report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and 
its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements 
in the trustees’ annual report.  
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 
• the parent charitable company has not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or 

returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 
• the parent charitable company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the 

accounting records and returns; or 
• certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
• The trustees are not entitled to take advantage of the small companies’ exemption in 

preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and from preparing a Strategic Report. 
 
Responsibilities of trustees 
 
As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement set out on page 33, the trustees 
(who are also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group and 
parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
trustees either intend to liquidate the group or parent charitable company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
We have been appointed as auditor under the Companies Act 2006 and section 151 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and report in accordance with those Acts.  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit.  
 
We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposes of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the group and parent charitable company’s internal 
control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the trustees.  
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group and parent 
charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the group or parent 
charitable company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 

or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit report.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.   
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Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the charitable company's members, as a body, in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the charitable company's members those matters which we are required to state to 
them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to any party other than the charitable company and charitable 
company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 
 

      

Date: ……12 October 2020……………………………………… 

Neil Finlayson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of Moore Kingston Smith LLP, Statutory Auditor    
Devonshire House 
60 Goswell Road 
London 
EC1M 7AD 
 
Moore Kingston Smith LLP is eligible to act as auditor in terms of Section 1212 of the Companies 
Act 2006. 
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Section 13. Financial report   

Consolidated statement of financial activities for the year ended 31 March 2020  

 

All gains and losses recognised in the year are included in the Statement of Financial Activities.  The accompanying notes form part of these financial 
statements.

Unrestricted Discontinued Total Restricted Group Group

Funds Operations Unrestricted Funds 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

Funds

INCOME FROM: Note           £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000

Donations 2.1 1,073            -                1,073            577               1,650            1,142            

Legacies 1,791            -                1,791            87                 1,878            3,814            

Other grants receivable 122               -                122               1,305            1,427            997               

Other trading activities 417               -                417               239               656               816               

Trading subsidiary 4.3 867               -                867               176               1,043            1,272            

Investments 2.2 469               -                469               -                469               437               

Charitable Activities 2.3 117               -                117               27                 144               407               

Total income 4,856            -                4,856            2,411            7,267            8,885            

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds - costs of the charity 3.1,12 (1,583)          -                (1,583)          (184)              (1,767)          (1,472)          

Raising funds - costs of the subsidiary 3.1,4.3,12 (261)              -                (261)              (173)              (434)              (332)              

Charitable activities 3.1, 3.2,12 (3,201)          (155)              (3,356)          (2,055)          (5,411)          (6,165)          

Total Expenditure (5,045)          (155)              (5,200)          (2,412)          (7,612)          (7,969)          

Net (losses)  on investment assets 4.3 (230)              -                (230)              -                (230)              (154)              

(419)              (155)              (574)              (1)                  (575)              762               

Transfers between funds 7 (10)                -                (10)                10                 -                -                

Net movement in funds (429)              (155)              (584)              9                    (575)              762               

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward at 1 April 2019 20,623         811               21,434         4,893            26,327         25,565         

Total funds carried forward at 31 March 2020 7 20,194         656               20,850         4,902            25,752         26,327         

Net (expenditure) / income
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Balance sheets as at 31 March 2020    

 

 
Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006 from disclosing its individual Statement of Financial Activities. The net movement in funds is 
£0.6m deficit (2019: £1.7m surplus) after taking account of £0.2m loss (2019: £0.1m loss) on 
investment assets. 

The financial statements on pages 50 to 81 were approved by the Board of Trustees on     

29 September 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

Signed: 

 

Chairman:         Date: 29 September 2020 

 

Hon Treasurer:         Date: 29 September 2020 

 

 

Company number 10469089  

Note Group  Charity Group  Charity 
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-19
          £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000

Fixed Assets
Tangible fixed assets 4.1 1,741            1,741            2,322            2,322            
Intangible fixed assets 4.2 80                  80                  49                  49                  
Investments 4.3 21,781          21,781          21,396          21,396          
Total fixed assets 23,602          23,602          23,767          23,767          
Current Assets
Debtors 5 973               1,105            1,208            1,677            
Cash at bank and in hand 4,909            4,745            4,742            4,220            
Total current assets 5,882            5,850            5,950            5,897            
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (3,732)           (3,709)           (3,390)           (3,346)           

Net current assets 2,150            2,141            2,560            2,551            

Total assets less current liabilities and net 
assets 25,752          25,743          26,327          26,318          

Funds
Restricted income funds 7,13 4,902            4,902            4,893            4,893            
Unrestricted income funds 7,13 20,850          20,841          21,434          21,425          
Total Funds 25,752          25,743          26,327          26,318          
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Consolidated statement of cash flows for the year e nded 31 March 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Note Group Group Group Group
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-19
          £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash (used in) operating activities (2,451)           (1,059)           

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends and interest received 2.2 238               231               
Net income from property 2.2 231               206               
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 4.1 (89)                (9)                   
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 4.2 (48)                -                
Purchase of investments 4.3 (6,254)           (7,452)           
Proceeds on disposal of investments 4.3 8,540            9,190            

2,618            2,166            

167               1,107            

4,742            3,635            

4,909            4,742            Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporti ng period

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the r eporting period

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reportin g period

Net cash provided by investing activities

Notes to the cash flow statement

Reconciliation of net movement in funds to net cash  flow from operating activities

Group Group
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
          £'000           £'000

Net movement in funds (575)              762               
Depreciation charge 670               674               
Amortisation charge 17                  16                  
Investment income (469)              (437)              
Realised/unrealised loss on fixed asset investments 230               154               
(Increase) in cash held in investment portfolio (2,901)           (1,813)           
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 235               (61)                
Increase/(decrease)  in creditors 342               (354)              

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities (2,451)           (1,059)           
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies 
 
The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the Group’s financial statements.  
 
These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention, 
as modified by the revaluation of investments being measured at fair value through income and 
expenditure within the Statement of Financial Activities. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102).  The Charity is a public benefit entity for the 
purposes of FRS 102 and therefore the Charity also prepared its financial statements in accordance 
with the Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in 
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (The 
FRS 102 Charities SORP), the Charities Act 2011 and Companies Act 2006. 
 
The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of the Charity. 
Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £1,000. 
 
The Charity is a registered charity, and as such is entitled to certain tax exemptions on income and 
profits from investments, and surpluses on any trading activities carried on in furtherance of the 
Charity's primary objectives, if these profits and surpluses are applied solely for charitable purposes. 
 
Transfer of assets  

 

On 1 April 2017, the Charity was reconstructed as an independent charity and ceased to be an NHS 
charity. The entire undertaking of the unincorporated trust known as The Addenbrooke’s Charitable 
Trust (the ‘old charity’) was transferred to a new charitable company limited by guarantee and 
registered with Companies House (registered company number 10469089) and with the Charity 
Commission for England and Wales (registered charity number 1170103) (the Charity) as follows: 
 
• The legal and beneficial title to the unrestricted assets of the ‘old charity’ were transferred to the 

Charity on 1 April 2017.  
 
• The restricted funds of the ‘old charity’ were transferred to the Charity to be held on the same 

terms. 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with the accruals concept and on a going 
concern basis.  
 
Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
 
In the application of the Charity’s accounting policies, described in note 1, the Trustees are required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. 
 
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Valuation of fixed asset investments 
 
At 31 March 2020, the fund managers provided a valuation of the Charity’s investment portfolio which 
has been reported in these financial statements.  This valuation is based on the latest mid closing price 
quoted on the stock market or by the fund manager. 
 
Valuation of investment properties 
 
The charity’s investment property is included in the financial statements at valuation as described in 
note 4 to the financial statements. This is considered to be a critical accounting estimate in view of the 
amounts involved and the judgements applied in their valuation, particularly in light of uncertainties 
arising from the coronavirus pandemic. The full impact of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) on property 
markets is not yet clear and many surveyors are preparing valuations on the basis of ‘material valuation 
uncertainty’ as per VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS Red Book Global. 
 
The investment property was last re-valued by a third party, Cheffins, on 31 March 2017 in accordance 
with the Practice Statements and Guidance Notes contained in the Valuation Standards of the Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 6th Edition. The Trustees have re-considered the valuations 
as at the balance sheet date with reference to further advice from Cheffins and other available market 
information, factoring in the potential impact of the coronavirus. The Trustees consider that the latest 
valuations represent the best estimate of fair value at the balance sheet date. 
 
Depreciation and amortisation 
 
The charges in respect of depreciation and amortisation are derived after determining an estimate of an 
asset’s expected useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its life. Increasing an asset’s 
expected life or its residual value would result in a reduced depreciation or amortisation charge in the 
Charity’s financial statements. 
 
The useful lives and residual values of the Charity’s assets are determined by management at the time 
the asset is acquired and reviewed annually for appropriateness.  The lives are based on historical 
experience with similar assets as well as anticipation of future events which may impact their life such 
as changes in technology.  
 
Going concern 
 
The Trustees have assessed whether the use of the going concern basis is appropriate and have 
considered possible events or conditions, including Covid19, that might cast significant doubt on the 
ability of the Charity to continue as a going concern. The Trustees have made this assessment for a 
period of at least one year from the date of approval of the financial statements. In particular, the 
Trustees have considered the Charity’s forecasts and projections and have taken account of pressures 
on income. After making enquiries the Trustees have concluded that there is a reasonable expectation 
that the Charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
The Charity therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing its financial statements. 
 
Discontinued operations  
 
During 2018, the Charity transferred all processing activity relating to education and other income 
generation by the Postgraduate Medical Education Centre (PGME) back to Cambridge University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH). In 2019/20 some payments were made from the related funds 
which were in accordance with their education objectives. These are disclosed as a discontinuing 
operation in the accounts.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
1.1 Public benefit 
 
The Charity is a Public Benefit Entity as defined by FRS 102. 
 
1.2 Consolidation 
 
The Charity owns 100% of the issued share capital of The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited, a trading 
company registered in England and Wales (company number 4287054).  The share capital of the 
company is £1.   
 
The consolidated group results incorporate: 
 
The financial statements of The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited on a line by line basis. All 
intercompany transactions have been eliminated on consolidation 
The income and expenditure of the linked charity, Cambridge Global Health Partnerships, charity 
number 1170103-113. 
 
1.3 Income 
 
The policies followed, which deal with income and donations, are: 
 
Donations 
 
All incoming resources are included in full in the Statement of Financial Activities as soon as the 
following three factors can be met: 
 
Entitlement – arises when a particular resource is receivable or the Charity’s right becomes legally 
enforceable 
Probability of receipt – defined as when it is probable that the incoming resource will be received 
Measurement – when the monetary value of the incoming resource can be measured with sufficient 
reliability. 
 
Cash donations are accounted for when received in the cash office.  
 
Gifts in kind are recognised as income and expenditure at the market rate of the goods or services 
provided. 
 
Legacies   
 
Legacies are included in incoming resources once they have been received or receipt becomes probable.  
This will usually be once grant of probate has been made, confirmation has been  
received from the representatives of the estate that there are sufficient net assets in the estate for 
payment of the legacy, and once all conditions attached to the legacy have been fulfilled.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
1.3  Income (continued) 

 
Other grants receivable 
 
Other grants receivable are included in incoming resources once there is sufficient evidence that any 
conditions attached have been fulfilled; unconditional grants are recognised at the earlier of receipt or 
entitlement.  
 
Other trading activities 
 
Other trading activities are the fundraising activities carried out by the Charity primarily to generate 
income which will be used to undertake its charitable activities. 
 
Income from charitable activities 
 
Income from charitable activities is any income for which a payment has been received for services 
provided for the benefit of the Charity’s beneficiaries, such as course fees or professional fees.  This 
income is included when invoiced or on receipt.  
 
Deferred income 
 
Income has been deferred and included within creditors, where the transaction creating the income has 
already occurred, but the income relates to a future financial period. 
 
Investment Income 
 
Income from fixed asset investments and investment properties is included once they have been 
received.  
 
1.4  Expenditure 

All expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to make a payment to a 
third party. 
 
Expenditure on raising funds are the costs associated with generating income. 
 
Grants payable are included in charitable activities and are payments made to third parties in the 
furtherance of charitable objectives.  Grants payable are given on an individual basis to cover 
patient/staff welfare, research and amenities and are recognised once the third party has a reasonable 
expectation that they will receive the grant and all of the conditions, if any, attaching to the grant have 
been met.  Similarly, contributions to the NHS Foundation Trust are recognised on the same basis. 
 
Governance costs are the costs associated with the governance arrangements of the Charity which 
relate to the general running of the Charity as opposed to those costs associated with fundraising or 
charitable activities.  These costs include audit costs, legal advice for the Trustees and costs 
associated with constitutional and statutory requirements. 
 
Staff costs, other support costs and governance costs are allocated between expenditure on raising 
funds and charitable activities on the basis of actual accrued spend (where applicable) and relative 
spend for each area.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
1.4  Expenditure (continued) 
 
It is the Charity’s policy to apportion an element of its support costs, which cannot be attributed directly 
to specific funds, across funds based on a fixed percentage applied to the fund’s average monthly 
balance. The remaining balance of support costs are funded from investment income, the ACT general 
funds and by a deduction from unrestricted legacy income received throughout the year.   
 
1.5 Definitions of funds 
 
The Charity holds restricted and unrestricted funds; unrestricted funds may be either designated or 
undesignated. 

• Restricted funds are expendable only in accordance with the discrete wishes of the donors, within 
the objects of the Charity 

• Unrestricted funds are expendable at the discretion of the Trustees in furtherance of the objects 
of the Charity 

• Unrestricted funds may, as determined by the Trustees, be designated towards some particular 
aspect of the Charity.  This designation has an administrative purpose only, and does not legally 
restrict the Trustees’ discretion to apply the funds.  

 
1.6  Financial instruments 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and in hand and short-term deposits with a maturity 
date of three months or less. 
 
Debtors and creditors 
 
Debtors and creditors receivable or payable within one year of the reporting date are carried at their 
transaction price.  Debtors and creditors that are receivable or payable in more than one year, and not 
subject to a market rate of interest, are measured at the present value of the expected future receipts or 
payment discounted at a market rate of interest. 
 
Fixed asset investments 
 
Investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised at their transaction 
value and subsequently measured at their fair value as at the balance sheet date using the closing 
quoted market price.  The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on 
revaluation and disposals throughout the year. 
 
1.7 Investment properties 
 
The Charity holds a portfolio of investment properties.  Rent receivable during the year is recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Activities under investment income when received. 
 
Investment properties are included in the Financial Statements at their market value, based on 
professional valuation.  Gains or losses are re-calculated as the difference between the market value at 
the current year end and the market value at the previous year end using the closing quoted market 
price.  The Statement of Financial Activities includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluation 
and disposals throughout the year. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
1.8 Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are treated as fixed asset investments and accounted for in the 
Charity’s accounts at cost less any impairment.  
 
1.9 Pension contributions 
 
Pension costs  
 
The Charity operates two pension schemes: 
 
NHS Pension Scheme 
 
Past and present employees who were employed by the ‘old charity’ are covered by the provisions of 
the NHS Pension Scheme.  Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the 
NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit 
scheme (which prepares its own scheme statements) that covers NHS employers, general practices 
and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales.  As a 
consequence, it is not possible for the Charity to identify its share of the underlying scheme liabilities.  
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution scheme.  The Charity retains its 
membership through a ‘Directions Status’, which means that new employees starting after 31 March 
2017 are not entitled to join the scheme. 
 
Employers’ pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become 
due. In the current period, this totalled £71k (2019: £82k). 
 
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where 
the retirement is due to ill health.  The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged at 
the time the Charity commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 
 
1.9 Pension contributions (continued) 
 
Royal London Group Personal Pension Scheme 
 
In January 2018, the Charity put in place a group personal pension scheme in accordance with its auto 
enrolment responsibilities.  
 
Employers’ pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become 
due. In the current period, this totalled £52k (2019: £32k).   
 
 
1.10 Employee benefits 
 
Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Charity is demonstrably 
committed to terminate the employment of an employee through, for example, redundancy, or to 
provide termination benefits. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
1.11 Tangible fixed assets  
 
Valuation 
 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, including any costs such as installation directly attributable to 
bringing them into working condition.  The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for 
impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.  
All fixed assets over £200 are capitalised. 

 
Depreciation 

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  
 
Asset type    Life in years  
 
Medical equipment   5 - 7 
Leasehold improvements  5 
Office equipment    5 
 
 
1.12 Intangible fixed assets  
 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the Charity’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be 
provided to the Charity, and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  
 
Computer software 

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part 
of the relevant item of office and computer equipment within tangible fixed assets. Software which is not 
integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application software and purchased application licences, are 
capitalised as intangible fixed assets. 
 
Amortisation 

Intangible fixed assets are amortised at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, as follows:  
 
Asset type    Life in years  
 
Computer software   5 
 
 
1.13  Provisions 
 
The Charity provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the 
balance sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 1 Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 
1.14 Irrecoverable VAT 
 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged against the category of resources expended for which it was incurred. 
 
1.15 Parent charity financial statements 
 
Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust has taken advantage of the exemption in section 408 of the Companies 
Act 2006 from disclosing its individual SOFA. 
 
The net movement in funds is £0.6m deficit (2019: £1.7m surplus) after taking account of £0.2m loss 
(2019: £0.1m loss) on investment assets. 
 
1.16 Operating lease commitments 
 
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership 
remain with the lessor are charged against profits on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
 
Note 2  Income 

 

 

From 1 January 2018 the Charity transferred all processing activity relating to education and other income generation by the 
Postgraduate Medical Education Centre (PGME) back to Cambridge University Hospitals (CUH). This is disclosed as a 
discontinuing operation in the accounts. In 2019/20 this income totalled £nil (2018/19 £44k).     
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Notes to the financial statements 
Note 3  Expenditure    
3.1 Resources expended 

Staff costs

Direct 
fundraising 

costs
Governance 

costs

Investment 
management 

costs

Trading 
subsidiary 

costs

Expenditure 
on 
Charitable 
Activities

Grants 
awarded

Total 
Resources 
expended Group

31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

               £'000                £'000                  £'000                  £'000                  £ '000               £'000                  £'000                £'000           £'000

Note 12

Raising funds - costs of the charity

Cost of raising funds 1,043         495            53                176              -               -            -               1,767         1,472        

Raising funds - costs of the subsidiary

Cost of raising funds -             -             -               -               434              -            -               434            332           

Charitable activities

Patients' welfare and amenities 135            -             76                -               -               1,337         995              2,543         2,194        

Staff welfare and amenities 22              -             12                -               -               175           202              411            522           

Research 57              -             32                -               -               114           874              1,077         2,139        

Course expenditure 16              -             9                  -               -               275           -               300            338           

Depreciation and fixed asset maintenance 37              -             21                -               -               634           -               692            690           

Other direct charitable expenditure 236            -             12                -               -               140           -               388            282           

503            -             162              -               -               2,675         2,071            5,411         6,165        

Total resources expended 1,546         495            215              176              434              2,675         2,071            7,612         7,969        

Staff and governance costs are allocated to raising funds and charitable activities on the basis of relative spend. In 2019/20 grants awarded were £2,071k (2018/19: £1,560k)

 (see note 3.5).    
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

Note 3  Expenditure (continued)    

 

 

 

 

  

3.1a Support costs
Group Group

Staff costs
Governance 
costs 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

              £'000                  £'000                  £'000                  £'000
Fundraising staff 948                -              948               781               
Support staff 383                -              383               390               
Charitable activities staff 215                -              215               132               
Depreciation and amortisation -                 53               53                57                 
Legal and professional fees -                 29               29                62                 
IT costs -                 65               65                61                 
Other staff related costs -                 19               19                18                 
Office rent -                 19               19                18                 
Audit costs -                 25               25                11                 
Other governance costs -                 5                 5                  20                 

1,546             215             1,761            1,550            

Allocated to
Fundraising 1,043             53               1,096            903               
Charitable activities 503                162             665               647               

1,546             215             1,761            1,550            

Staff and governance costs are allocated to fundraising and charitable activities on 
the basis of relative spend .  

3.2 Charitable activities
Total

Unrestricted Discontinued Unrestricted Restricted Grou p Group
Funds Operations Funds Funds 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

              £'000               £'000               £'000                  £'000                £'000           £'000

1,232              -                    1,232            1,311              2,543             2,194             
Staff welfare and amenities 392                 -                    392               19                   411                522                
Research 580                 -                    580               497                 1,077             2,139             
Course expenditure 145                 155                   300               -                  300                338                

692                 -                    692               -                  692                690                
160                 -                    160               228                 388                282                

3,201              155                   3,356                 2,055              5,411             6,165             
Other direct charitable expenditure

Patients' welfare and amenities

Depreciation and fixed asset maintenance

From 1 January 2018 the Charity transferred all processing activity relating to education and other income generation by the Post 
Graduate Medical Education Centre (PGME) back to CUH. This is disclosed as a discontinuing operation in the accounts. In 2019/20 the 
associated course expenditure totalled £155k (2018/19 £83k).
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Notes to the financial statements 
 

Note 3  Expenditure (continued)     

 

 
Employers pension contributions were paid at the rate of 14.4% for those in the NHS scheme (total cost 
£71k (2018/19 £82k) and 7% for those in the Royal London Group Pension Scheme (total cost £52k 
(2018/19 £32k).  
 
 

 
 
 
Key Management personnel comprise the Chief Executive, Director of Fundraising and Director of 
Finance. 

Employer pension contributions for the year paid on behalf of employees included in the above bands 
amounted to £25k (2018/19 £19k). 

 

3.3 Analysis of staff costs 

Group Group
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

               £'000           £'000

Wages and salaries 1,301                 1,088              
Social security costs 122                    99                   
Other pension costs 123                    116                 

1,546                 1,303              

The average monthly number of staff in the year was: 38                      34                   

The average monthly full time equivalent number of staff in the year was: 35                      31                   

Analysis of FTE headcount by activity

Governance 7                         8                      
Funds and Grants 3                         2                      
CGHP programme management 3                         2                      
Fundraising 22                      19                   

35                      31                   

Group Group
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

Key Management Personnel                £'000           £'000
Total remuneration (including employers pension contributions, and 267                    262                 
employers' national insurance)

Salaries above £60,000 (bands of £10,000)
£000 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19

60 - 70 1                         -                  
70 - 80 2                         2                      

Number of staff
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Note 3  Expenditure (continued)     

 

 

 

 

 3.4 Net income/(expenditure) for the year   

Group Charity Group Charity
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-19

                £'000                   £'000                 £'000             £'000
Depreciation 670 670 674 674
Amortisation 16 16 16 16
Audit fees 20 16 20 16
Other accounting fees paid to auditors 2 1 19 18

3.5 Analysis of grants 

Grants were awarded in favour of the partner organisations, principally Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust and the University of Cambridge, to support research activities and innovation in patient care across Addenbrooke’s
and the Rosie Hospitals.  Grants were made solely to institutions; no grants were made to individuals.

Paid Granted
 Group and 

Charity 
 Group and 

Charity 
 Group and 

Charity 
 Group and 

Charity 
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
          £'000              £'000           £'000              £'000

Medical equipment benefitting patients 72                      10                      607                12                   
Patients welfare and education 161                   65                      36                   157                
Staff welfare and education 60                      30                      181                30                   
Building and refurbishment patients 29                      3                         352                13                   
Building and refurbishment staff -                    -                     21                   -                 
Research salaries and equipment 1,300                853                    874                1,348             

1,622                961                    2,071             1,560             

Institution receiving grant support
during the year 1 April 2019 - 31 March 2020 Number of Total Amount

grants amount paid accrued
awarded 19/20 31-Mar-20

          £'000              £'000
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 53                      614                 2,098             
University of Cambridge 24                      955                 418                
Other external organisations 1                         53                   -                 

78                      1,622              2,516             

2020 2019
          £'000              £'000

Opening balance at 1 April 2,067              1,855             
Additional commitments made during the year 2,071              1,173             
Amounts paid during the year (1,622)            (961)               
Closing balance at 31 March 2,516              2,067             

The charity awards a number of grants each year. Many grants are awarded and paid out in the same financial year. However, 
some grants, especially those relating to research projects or funding for specific posts may span 1-2 years. All grant funding 
commitments below are considered to be current liabilities. As the charity has control over the award and timing of grants, there 
is little uncertainty around these payments.
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Note 4  Fixed assets  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.1 Tangible fixed assets 

Group and Charity
Medical Leasehold Office Total

Equipment Improvements Equipment
                  £'000                   £'000                   £'000                   £'000

Cost 
At 1 April 2019 7,560                  222                     89                        7,871                  
Additions purchased -                      71                        18                        89                        
At 31 March 2020 7,560                  293                     107                     7,960                  
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019 5,316                  173                     60                        5,549                  
Provided during the year 633                     21                        16                        670                     
At 31 March 2020 5,949                  194                     76                        6,219                  

Net book value
Net book value at 31 March 2019 2,244                  49                        29                        2,322                  
Net book value at 31 March 2020 1,611                  99                        31                        1,741                  

4.2 Intangible fixed assets 

Group and Charity
Computer
Software

                  £'000
Cost 
At 1 April 2019 80                        
Additions purchased 48                        
At 31 March 2020 128                     
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2019 31                        
Provided during the year 17                        
At 31 March 2020 48                        

Net book value
Net book value at 31 March 2019 49                        
Net book value at 31 March 2020 80                        
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Notes to the financial statements 

Note 4  Fixed assets (continued)  

 

Investment properties 
 
The quinquennial professional valuation of investment properties was carried out by Cheffins as at 31 
March 2017. The valuation was undertaken on the basis of 'Market Sales Value' and the 'Market Rent 
Value' as defined by the RICS Valuation- professional Standards. In light of the uncertainty arising from 
the Covid-19 pandemic, the trustees have taken additional advice from Cheffins and consider that no 
further adjustment beyond the 7% reduction in 2019 should be made to the 2017 valuation at 31 March 
2020. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

4.3 Investments

Group and Charity

Investment 
Investments listed 

on a recognised
properties stock exchange 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
          £'000                       £'000             £'000             £'000

Market value at 1 April 2019 5,752          11,658                    17,410          19,302          
Additions at cost -              6,254                      6,254            7,452            
Disposals -              (8,540)                     (8,540)           (9,190)           
Realised and unrealised (losses)/ gains (230)                        (230)              (154)              

5,752          9,142                      14,894          17,410          

Cash held as an investment -              6,887                      6,887            3,986            

As at 31 March 2020 5,752          16,029                    21,781          21,396          

UK Investments 5,752          10,928                    16,680          14,803          
Non Region Specific -              916                          916               1,487            
Non-UK Investments -              4,185                      4,185            5,106            

5,752          16,029                    21,781          21,396          

Market value at 31 March 2020
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Notes to the financial statements 

Note 4  Fixed assets (continued) 

4.3 Investments 

The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited – company registration number 04287054 

The Charity owns 100% of the issued share capital of The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited, a trading 
company registered in England and Wales.  The share capital of the company is £1. A summary of the 
results of the subsidiary, The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited, are shown below: 

 

 

Note 5  Debtors 

 

  

Year ended Year ended 
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
          £'000           £'000

Turnover 1,043            1,272            
Cost of sales (434) (329)
Gross profit 609               943               
Bank deposit interest 3                    2                    

(3) (5)

Net result 609               940               
Retained profit brought forward 9                    969               

Gift aid distribution (609) (1,900)
Retained profit 
carried forward 9                    9                    

The aggregate of assets, liabilities and funds is:
Assets 640               1,192            

Liabilities (631) (1,183)
Shareholders' funds 9                    9                    

Other administrative expenses

Group Charity Group Charity
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-19

                 £'000                  £'000                  £'000                  £'000
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade debtors 549                     273                     775                     339                     

Amounts owed by group undertakings -                      610                     -                      1,140                 
Other debtors 129                     128                     49                       49                       
Prepayments and accrued income 295                     94                       384                     149                     

973                     1,105                 1,208                 1,677                 

Within prepayments and accrued income £44k (2019: £nil) relates to accrued income from legacies.
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Note 6  Creditors 

 

Other creditors include £17k (2019: £16k) in respect of pension contributions to the NHS Pension 
Scheme and Group Personal Pension Scheme.  

 

6.1     Deferred income 

 

Deferred income comprises grant income received for future use, fees paid by course delegates where 
the course takes place after the year end and fundraising or sponsorship income where the income is 
received in advance of the event taking place after the year end. 
 
 
 
 
  

Group Charity Group Charity
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-19
         £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade creditors 677              677                  588                  588                  
Other creditors 35                 35                    26                    26                    
Other taxation and social security 69                 52                    85                    48                    
Accrual for grants payable (note 3.5) 2,516           2,516              2,067              2,067              
Other accruals 423              417                  611                  604                  

Deferred income (note 6.1) 12                 12                    13                    13                    
3,732           3,709              3,390              3,346              

Group Group Charity Charity
31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
         £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000

Balance as at 1 April 13 32 13                 26                

Amounts released to income from charitable activiti es:
Course fees (10)                   (11)               
Fundraising events (13)                   (15)                   (13)               (15)               
Recharges to Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (7)                     -               -               

Amounts deferred in the year
Fundraising events 12                    13                    12                 13                
Recharges to Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust -               -               

Balance as at 31 March 12                    13                    12                 13                
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Notes to the financial statements 

Note 7  Funds of the Charity 
 
Funds are defined as unrestricted or restricted funds based on guidelines set out by the Charity 
Commission.  Restricted funds are those that are part of legally enforceable trusts, comprise appeal 
income, or are grants and legacies where the donor, grant-making body or legator has placed an 
unequivocal restriction on how the income must be used.  All other income and donations are classified 
as unrestricted but with an appropriate designation (such as a particular wards or specialism) that 
reflects the express wishes of the donor. 
 
Fund balances may be negative when expenditure is made on a project that is expected to be 
reimbursed at a future date, but where, at the end of the financial year, not all the conditions have been 
met that would justify this income being recognised within the financial statements.  This results in an 
excess of expenditure over income on some funds.  The total deficit fund balances amounted to £92k 
(2019: £43k). 
 

7.1   Total funds   ( see note 13 for 2018/19 comparatives) 

 

7.2   Analysis of net assets between funds ( see note13 for 2018/19 comparatives) 

 

  

  

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 
31-Mar-19  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-20 

         £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000

Restricted funds 4,893             2,411             (2,412)           10                  -                 4,902         

Unrestricted designated funds 18,971          2,310             (2,644)           (402)               -                 18,235       

Unrestricted funds 2,463             2,546             (2,556)           392                (230)               2,615         

26,327          7,267             (7,612)           -                 (230)               25,752       

Group
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
              £'000               £'000               £'000               £'000

Fixed assets 21,925            1,677              23,602            23,767            
Current assets 2,275              3,607              5,882              5,950              
Liabilities (3,350)             (382)                (3,732)             (3,390)             

20,850            4,902              25,752            26,327            

Charity
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds 31-Mar-20 31-Mar-19
              £'000               £'000               £'000               £'000

Fixed assets 21,925            1,677              23,602            23,767            
Current assets 2,244              3,606              5,850              5,897              
Liabilities (3,328)             (381)                (3,709)             (3,346)             

20,841            4,902              25,743            26,318            
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Note 7  Funds of the Charity (continued) 

7.3    Restricted funds ( see note13 for 2018/19 comparatives) 

 

 
Details of the material restricted funds are given below: 

 
• The Oncology Clinic and Day Unit Campaign is for the re-development of the Oncology clinic and 

day unit.  
 

• The Webb legacy fund consists of a legacy received specifically for the purchase of equipment 
that would not be funded by the NHS for Addenbrooke’s and the Rosie hospitals. During the year 
£105k was transferred to the Breast Cancer Sample Scanner fund in accordance with those 
terms. 

 
• GRANT- Advanced Bionics - Emmeline Centre – relates to funding received from Advanced 

Bionics for the Emmeline (hearing) Centre expansion project 
 

• The ‘Da Vinci Robot’ fund was set up as part of the terms of the programme related investment 
arrangements for a Da Vinci robot which is owned by the Charity (included as medical equipment 
within fixed assets) but used by Addenbrooke’s Hospital. 

 

  

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 

31-Mar-19  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-20 

         £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000
APPEAL - Oncology Clinic & Day Unit Campaign 794                -                 (67)                 (35)                 -                 692             
LEGACY - Webb: Medical Equipment 684                1                     -                 (105)               -                 580             
GRANT- Advanced Bionics- Emmeline Centre 100                470                -                 -                 -                 570             
APPEAL - Da Vinci Robot 499                2                     -                 -                 -                 501             
Cambridge Global Health Partnership 273                295                (274)               41                  -                 335             
APPEAL - Emergency Children's Ambulance -                 199                (2)                   1                     -                 198             
LEGACY - Gray: Oncology Equipment 169                -                 -                 -                 -                 169             
LEGACY - Percival: Ophthalmology 140                -                 -                 -                 -                 140             

Surgical Training and Research Centre 40                  100                -                 (4)                   -                 136             
LEGACY - Percival: Urology 139                -                 (5)                   -                 -                 134             
APPEAL - Breast Cancer Sample Scanner -                 -                 -                 105                -                 105             
Rheumatoid arthritis 102                -                 (16)                 1                     -                 87               
GRANT - Aslam Shiraz - PhD 109                -                 (31)                 -                 -                 78               
APPEAL - Personalised Breast Cancer 117                1                     (48)                 1                     -                 71               
APPEAL - ANTS and NICU Campaign 130                48                  (123)               (8)                   -                 47               
APPEAL - Children's Services Campaign 33                  13                  (6)                   (27)                 -                 13               
GRANT: MRI Incubator 13                  -                 -                 -                 -                 13               
LEGACY - Parker: Tinnitus Research 20                  -                 -                 -                 -                 20               
SALARY - Neurology EPIC Analyst 118                -                 (118)               -                 -                 -              

Other restricted (83 funds) 1,413             1,282             (1,722)           40                  -                 1,013         

Total restricted funds 4,893             2,411             (2,412)           10                  -                 4,902         
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Note 7  Funds of the Charity (continued) 

7.3   Restricted funds (continued)  

 
• Cambridge Global Health Partnerships (formerly known as ‘Addenbrooke’s Abroad’) fund 

includes donations and grants specifically for the support of overseas volunteering projects for 
Cambridge University Hospitals’ staff.  Addenbrooke’s Charitable Trust transferred £52k from 
unrestricted funds in support of the activity. Cambridge Global Health Partnerships is a linked 
charity number 1170103-113. 
 

• The Appeal Emergency Children’s Ambulance fund relates to raising funds for an emergency 
children’s transport service which includes the equipment, staff training and additional posts to 
help transport critically ill children. 
 

• The Gray legacy: Oncology Equipment fund relates to a legacy that is to be used specifically on 
the provision and maintenance of equipment in the Oncology Centre. 
 

• The Percival legacy was split into two funds. 50% was left to Clinic 3 Ophthalmology, for the 
general purposes of the Eye Clinic fund.  The other 50% was left to the Urology Department, for 
the general purposes of Clinic 4a Urology. 
 

• The Surgical Training and Research Centre fund receives and expends a seven-year annual 
grant from the Evelyn Trust in relation to equipment to be used in the centre.  
 

• The Appeal Breast Cancer Sample Scanner fund relates to fundraising for a breast 3D x-ray 
machine. 
 

 
7.4   Material designated unrestricted funds ( see note13 for 2018/19 comparatives) 

The Trustees are responsible for approximately 400 designated unrestricted funds, each of which 
supports a different department, ward, clinic, research or other programme in line with donors’ 
preferences. Twenty-six of these funds relate to the Postgraduate Medical Education (PGME) 
discontinued operations.   
  
Authority for expenditure up to £5,000 against these funds is delegated to fund advisors, who are 
mostly senior clinical staff with specialist knowledge of the department or purposes supported by the 
fund.   There are a minimum of two fund advisors for each fund.  Advisors can commit expenditure 
(which is subject to review by the Charity) for charitable purposes up to £5,000.   The majority of 
expenditure against these funds is therefore dependent on fund advisors’ needs and ambitions for their 
area.  The Charity works closely with fund advisors to develop their plans and ensure that they meet 
our charitable objectives. 
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Note 7 Funds of the Charity (continued) 
 
7.4   Material designated unrestricted funds (continued) 
 

 
 

 

 

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 
31-Mar-19  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-20 
         £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000

Post Graduate Medical Education (26 funds) 3,415             -                 -                 (201)               -                 3,214         
MRI Scanners 2,467             214                (256)               25                  -                 2,450         
LEGACY - Geary: Cancer Research Hospital 1,550             347                -                 -                 -                 1,897         
LEGACY - Cunningham: Dialysis Unit 1,225             -                 (271)               (16)                 -                 938             

Scanner Fund 386                -                 -                 -                 -                 386             
Dermatology 387                6                     (3)                   (25)                 -                 365             
Eye Unit Fund 336                -                 (42)                 (11)                 -                 283             
Cancer Scanning Equipment 241                -                 -                 33                  -                 274             
Mynott - Neuro Psychiatrist 250                -                 -                 -                 -                 250             
LEGACY - Way: Rheumatology Research 96                  129                (10)                 -                 -                 215             
Oncology & Day Unit 258                44                  (37)                 (55)                 -                 210             
LEGACY - Mynott: Neurology 215                15                  -                 (25)                 -                 205             
Parkinsons Disease Research 214                5                     -                 (18)                 -                 201             

Linac Equipment 215                221                (243)               -                 -                 193             
Cardiac Research 181                -                 -                 (11)                 -                 170             
Oncology R & D Committee 219                -                 (43)                 (9)                   -                 167             
CT Scanner 195                90                  (125)               -                 -                 160             
Ward Coronary Care Unit CCU/K3/K2 168                3                     25                  (41)                 -                 155             
Eleanor Cripps Diabetes & Endocrine 165                1                     (1)                   (10)                 -                 155             
LEGACY - Carter: Dr Mayers Eye Clinic -                 134                -                 -                 -                 134             
Biochemistry & Immunology 202                -                 (66)                 (10)                 -                 126             
ACT on Cancer 102                102                (26)                 (52)                 -                 126             
Cancer Scanning Equipment 247                -                 -                 (133)               -                 114             
APPEAL - Help your Hospital (COVID-19) -                 128                (19)                 -                 -                 109             
Research Advisory Committee 27                  81                  (171)               167                -                 104             
LEGACY - Kemp: Transplant Equipment -                 -                 (10)                 113                -                 103             
LEGACY - Mynott - MND and Dementia 
Research 100                -                 -                 -                 -                 100             
Innovation Panel Fund 19                  -                 29                  51                  -                 99               
Brain Tumour Research      97                  39                  (32)                 (7)                   -                 97               
Arthritis Care 104                45                  (6)                   (52)                 -                 91               
Osteoporosis Research 138                -                 (43)                 (7)                   -                 88               
Physiotherapy Post Registration 104                6                     (20)                 (2)                   -                 88               
Tissue Bank Research Support Fund 105                1                     (38)                 (4)                   -                 64               
PLUGIN (Patient Lead Upper GI Network - 106                3                     (70)                 (3)                   -                 36               

Other funds  (341 funds) 5,437             696                (1,166)           (99)                 -                 4,868         

Total designated funds 18,971          2,310             (2,644)           (402)               -                 18,235       
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Note 7 Funds of the Charity (continued) 
 

7.4   Material designated unrestricted funds (continued) 
 
The following funds had significant movements occurred during the year:  
 
• The Post Graduate Medical Education funds contributed £160k to ACT operating costs which is 

entirely in accordance with ACT funding policy. 
 

• Legacy – Cunningham.  Expenditure from this fund has been for the refurbishment of wards that 
care for kidney patients. 

 
• Cancer scanning equipment £133k - this relates to a transfer into the MRI scanner fund in order 

to consolidate scanning equipment funds. 
 
• The Oncology and Day Unit fund contributed £20k to the second year of chaplaincy pastoral care 

 
• The Ward Coronary Care Unit fund contributed £28k towards enhanced software for use on MRI 

Scanners facilitating analysis of cases of cardiac MR. 
 

• The ACT on Cancer fund contributed £50k towards the funding for the Conebeam CT Scanner 
and 3D printer. This new equipment will deliver precision CT scans and 3D models to aid surgery. 

 
• The Kemp Legacy fund received back its funds previously used to underwrite the liver perfusion 

project which was fully funded and delivered. 
 

 
7.5   Unrestricted funds ( see note13 for 2018/19 comparatives) 

 

 

Included within unrestricted funds above is £9k which represents shareholders’ funds in the subsidiary : 
The Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited (note 4.3).  

During the year, £527k was transferred from the Addenbrooke’s General Fund into grant funds in 
relation to the 2019-20 grants programme.  

 

 

  

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Bala nce 
31-Mar-19  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-20 

            £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000

Addenbrooke's General Fund                2,809             1,257             (153)               (450)               -                 3,463         
Other funds  (4) (346)               1,289             (2,403)           842                (230)               (848)           

Total unrestricted funds 2,463             2,546             (2,556)           392                (230)               2,615         
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Note 8  Related party transactions 

One of the Trustees was a non-executive director of Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (CUH).  Detailed below are the transactions with CUH: 
 
Since 2005, Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (CUH) has acted as payment agent 
for much of the Charity’s expenditure but reimbursed on a regular basis.  At the end of the year, the 
Charity owed £0.23m (2019: £0.27m) to the NHS Foundation Trust.   
 
During the year, the Charity contributed £5.4m (2019: £6.2m) towards various schemes of Cambridge 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Cambridge University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust paid the subsidiary, The Fund for Addenbrooke’s 
Limited, the wholly owned subsidiary of the Charity, £ 1.4m (2019: £1.5m) for the use and maintenance of 
MRI and CT scanners and the Da Vinci Si Surgical System.  The total income received and receivable 
during the year amounted to £1m (2019: £1.2m).   
 
All profit of the subsidiary, the Fund for Addenbrooke’s Limited, is distributed to Addenbrooke’s Charitable 
Trust. The net profit earned by the subsidiary for the year to 31 March 2020 was £610k (2019: £940k).  
During the year distributions under gift aid totalling £939k (2019: £969k) were paid to Addenbrooke’s 
Charitable Trust.  There were no other related party transactions with the subsidiary during the year. 
 
None of the remaining Trustees or members of the key management staff, or parties related to them, 
have undertaken any material transactions with the Charity. 

A total of £nil (2019: £42) was reimbursed to Trustees for expenses in the year. 

During the year, Trustees and their related parties made donations (including Gift Aid) totalling £6k 
(2019 £17k).  
 
The Charity paid £3k (2019: £3k) in respect of Trustees’ liability insurance. 
 

Note 9  Operating lease commitments 

 

 

 

  

At 31 March 2020 the group had total commitments under non-cancellable operating leases:

31 March 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
£000 £000 £000

Within one year 17                              17 17
Within two to five years 17                              34 51
Over five years -                             -                             -                            

34                              51                              68                             

A new 15 year lease operating lease effective from 1 April 2017  was signed by the board on the 15  May 2018

The operating lease relates to administrative offices located on the CUH campus.
The first break clause can be exercised 1 April 2022 with 12 months notice.

Land and buildings 
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Note 10 Legacies 
 
At the end of the year the Charity had approximately £0.5m in its legacy pipeline (16 individual legacies) 
which did not meet the recognition criteria due to uncertainty over the timing of their receipts arising 
from the conduct and contents of the various estates. 
 
 
Note 11  Comparative figures:  Statement of financial activities 31 March 2019 
 

 

 
 
 

Unrestricted Discontinued Total Restricted Group

Funds Operations Unrestricted Funds 31-Mar-19

Funds

          £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000           £'000

INCOME FROM: Note

Donations 2.1 744               -                744               398               1,142            

Legacies 3,517            -                3,517            297               3,814            

Other grants receivable 206               -                206               791               997               

Other trading activities 457               -                457               359               816               

Trading subsidiary 4.3 756               -                756               516               1,272            

Investments 2.2 437               -                437               -                437               

Charitable Activities 2.3 356               44                 400               7                    407               

Total income 6,473            44                 6,517            2,368            8,885            

EXPENDITURE ON:

Raising funds - costs of the charity 3.1, (1,379)          -                (1,379)          (93)                (1,472)          

Raising funds - costs of the subsidiary 3.1,4.3 (191)              -                (191)              (141)              (332)              

Charitable activities 3.1, 3.2 (3,804)          (83)                (3,887)          (2,278)          (6,165)          

Total Expenditure (5,374)          (83)                (5,457)          (2,512)          (7,969)          

Net gains on investment assets 4.3 (154)              -                (154)              -                (154)              

945               (39)                906               (144)              762               

Transfers between funds 13 33                 -                33                 (33)                -                

Net movement in funds 978               (39)                939               (177)              762               

Reconciliation of funds:

Total funds brought forward at 1 April 2018 19,645         850               20,495         5,070            25,565         

Total funds carried forward at 31 March 2019 13 20,623         811               21,434         4,893            26,327         

Net income
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Note 12 Comparative figures: Resources expended 31 March 2019 

 
 
Staff and governance costs are allocated to raising funds and charitable activities on the basis of relative spend.

Staff costs

Direct 
fundraising 

costs
Governance 

costs

Investment 
management 

costs

Trading 
subsidiary 

costs

Expenditure 
on 
Charitable 
Activities

Grants 
awarded

Total 
Resources 
expended

31-Mar-19

               £'000                £'000                  £'000                  £'000                  £ '000               £'000                  £'000                £'000

Raising funds - costs of the charity
Cost of raising funds 855               417               48                     152                  -                    -                -                    1,472            

Raising funds - costs of the subsidiary
Cost of raising funds -                -                -                   -                   332                   -                -                    332               

Charitable activities
Patients' welfare and amenities 112               -                71                     -                   -                   1,829           182                  2,194         

Staff welfare and amenities 27                  -                17                     -                   -                   448              30                     522            

Research 109               -                69                     -                   -                   613              1,348               2,139         

Course expenditure 18                  -                11                     -                   -                   309              -                   338            

Depreciation and fixed asset maintenance 35                  -                22                     -                   -                   633              -                   690            

Other direct charitable expenditure 147               -                9                       -                   -                   126              -                   282            

448               -                199                  -                   -                   3,959           1,560               6,165            

Total resources expended 1,303            417               247                  152                  332                  3,959           1,560               7,969            
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Note 13        Comparative Figures: Funds of the Ch arity  
 
13.1   Total funds 

 

 

13.2   Analysis of net assets between funds   

 

 

 

 

 
  

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 
31-Mar-18  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-19 

         £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000          £'000

Restricted funds 5,070             2,368             (2,512)           (33)                 -                 4,893         

Unrestricted designated funds 17,932          4,738             (3,467)           (232)               -                 18,971       

Unrestricted funds 2,563             1,779             (1,990)           265                (154)               2,463         

25,565          8,885             (7,969)           0                     (154)               26,327       

Group
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-18
              £'000               £'000               £'000               £'000

Fixed assets 22,093            1,674              23,767            24,527            
Current assets 3,322              2,628              5,950              4,782              
Liabilities (3,981)             591                  (3,390)             (3,744)             

21,434            4,893              26,327            25,565            

Charity
Unrestricted Restricted Total Total

Funds Funds 31-Mar-19 31-Mar-18
              £'000               £'000               £'000               £'000

Fixed assets 22,093            1,674              23,767            24,527            
Current assets 3,269              2,628              5,897              3,573              
Liabilities (3,937)             591                  (3,346)             (3,506)             

21,425            4,893              26,318            24,594            
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Note 13        Comparative Figures: Funds of the Ch arity  

13.3   Restricted funds 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 

31-Mar-18  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-19 

         £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000
APPEAL - Oncology Clinic & Day Unit Campaign 634                -                 (133)               293                -                 794             
LEGACY - Webb: Medical Equipment 700                12                  -                 (28)                 -                 684             
APPEAL - Da Vinci Robot 122                518                (141)               -                 -                 499             
Cambridge Global Health Partnership 301                161                (215)               26                  -                 273             
LEGACY - Gray: Oncology Equipment -                 169                -                 -                 -                 169             
LEGACY - Percival: Ophthalmology 140                -                 -                 -                 -                 140             
LEGACY - Percival: Urology 139                -                 -                 -                 -                 139             
APPEAL - ANTS and NICU Campaign 15                  139                (24)                 -                 -                 130             
SALARY - Neurology EPIC Analyst -                 -                 -                 118                -                 118             
APPEAL - Personalised Breast Cancer 358                1                     (242)               -                 -                 117             
GRANT - Aslam Shiraz - PhD 109                -                 -                 -                 -                 109             
Rheumatoid arthritis 118                -                 (16)                 -                 -                 102             
GRANT- Advanced Bionics- Emmeline Centre -                 100                -                 -                 -                 100             
APPEAL - Haematology Day Unit 360                1                     (12)                 (349)               -                 -              
Legacy Mynott - Neuro Psychiatrist 250                -                 -                 (250)               -                 -              
APPEAL - Children's Services Campaign 260                41                  (274)               6                     -                 33               
GRANT: MRI Incubator 170                159                (316)               -                 -                 13               
LEGACY - Parker: Tinnitus Research 100                -                 (80)                 -                 -                 20               

Other restricted (54 funds) 1,294             1,068             (1,059)           151                -                 1,453         

Total restricted funds 5,070             2,368             (2,512)           (33)                 -                 4,893         
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Note 13        Comparative Figures: Funds of the Ch arity  
 
13.4   Material designated unrestricted funds  
 

 

 

 

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 
31-Mar-18  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-19 
         £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000

Post Graduate Medical Education (23 funds) 3,290             102                (145)               (6)                   -                 3,241         
MRI Scanners 2,114             730                (235)               (142)               -                 2,467         
LEGACY - Geary: Cancer Research Hospital -                 1,550             -                 -                 -                 1,550         
LEGACY - Cunningham: Dialysis Unit 1,219             6                     -                 -                 -                 1,225         
Dermatology 492                5                     (84)                 (26)                 -                 387             

Scanner Fund -                 -                 -                 386                -                 386             
Eye Unit Fund 360                -                 -                 (24)                 -                 336             
Mynott - Neuro Psychiatrist -                 -                 -                 250                -                 250             
Cancer Scanning Equipment 257                -                 386                (402)               -                 241             
Oncology & Day Unit 290                95                  (73)                 (54)                 -                 258             
Oncology R & D Committee 758                1                     (506)               (34)                 -                 219             
LEGACY - Mynott: Neurology 542                -                 (96)                 (231)               -                 215             
Parkinsons Disease Research 229                -                 -                 (15)                 -                 214             
Biochemistry & Immunology 233                -                 (18)                 (13)                 -                 202             
Cardiac Research 190                2                     -                 (11)                 -                 181             
Ward Coronary Care Unit CCU/K3/K2 225                4                     (36)                 (25)                 -                 168             
Eleanor Cripps Diabetes & Endocrine 177                -                 (2)                   (10)                 -                 165             
Osteoporosis Research 173                1                     (27)                 (9)                   -                 138             
Cancer Scanning (MRI) 135                -                 -                 (8)                   -                 127             
Cancer Scanning – Catscan 219                -                 -                 (98)                 -                 121             
CT Scanner (9)                   281                (162)               85                  -                 195             
PLUGIN (Patient Lead Upper GI Network - 122                19                  (28)                 (7)                   -                 106             
Tissue Bank Research Support Fund 198                -                 (85)                 (7)                   -                 105             
Physiotherapy Post Registration 92                  26                  (8)                   (6)                   -                 104             
Arthritis Care 116                -                 (1)                   (11)                 -                 104             
ACT on Cancer 72                  48                  (5)                   (13)                 -                 102             
LEGACY - Mynott - MND and Dementia 
Research -                 -                 -                 100                -                 100             
Cancer Scanning Equipment 353                -                 -                 (106)               -                 247             
Lewin Stroke Rehab/Ward R2   126                7                     (43)                 (5)                   -                 85               
Cancer research 191                7                     (174)               34                  -                 58               
Diabetes & Endocrine        177                -                 (2)                   (10)                 -                 165             
Microsurgery                                      104                17                  (27)                 (5)                   -                 89               
Eye Research    129                -                 (74)                 (7)                   -                 48               
Brain Tumour Research      108                11                  (14)                 (8)                   -                 97               
Ward NICU    101                3                     (13)                 (6)                   -                 85               

Other funds  (322 funds) 5,149             1,824             (1,996)           212                -                 5,189         

Total designated funds 17,932          4,738             (3,467)           (232)               -                 18,971       
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Note 13        Comparative Figures: Funds of the Ch arity  
 

13.5   Unrestricted funds 

 

 

Note 14 Company limited by guarantee 

 
The Charity is a company limited by guarantee and has no share capital. The members of the Charity 
are the Trustees listed on page 41.  In the event of the Charity being wound up, the liability in respect of 
the guarantee is limited to £1 per member of the Charity. 
 

 

Total  Incoming  Resources Transfers  Gains and  Balance 
31-Mar-18  Resources  Expended  losses  31-Mar-19 

            £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000             £'000

Addenbrooke's General Fund                1,464             1,932             (54)                 (533)               -                 2,809         
Other funds  (4) 1,099             (153)               (1,936)           798                (154)               (346)           

Total unrestricted funds 2,563             1,779             (1,990)           265                (154)               2,463         


